KAROLINSKA INSTITUTET Department of Medicine, Huddinge University Hospital Section of Dermatology & Venereology

# SOMATOSTATIN, DENDRITIC CELLS AND

# **PEPTIDE T IN PSORIASIS**

# A clinical, immunohistochemical and functional study

**Toomas Talme** 



Stockholm 2000

SUMMARY

Peptide T is an octapeptide designed to block the CD4 receptor. In a phase 1 study 9 psoriasis patients were treated with 2 mg peptide T i.v. once daily for 28 days and followed for a further 3 months. Five patients improved their PASI score >50%. The clinical results were confirmed by assessments of the histopathological score and epidermal thickness on biopsies. Peptide T treatment caused an increase in CD1-positive dendritic cells and a decrease in infiltrating lymphocytes. Immunohistochemical analysis revealed major changes in a population of somatostatin-immunoreactive dendritic cells during the treatment.

Somatostatin is a neuropeptide that inhibits the release of several hormones. It also affects fundamental lymphocyte functions, such as proliferation and antibody production, and somatostatin has been used in several studies of psoriasis. We found more somatostatin-immunoreactive cells in psoriasis lesions than in normal skin. These cells did not co-express CD1a, CD35, CD45RB, CD45RO, CD68, factor XIIIa or S-100, and they probably represent a specific population of dendritic cells. A subgroup co-expressed HLA-DR, which suggests that these cells can present antigens to T-cells.

Changes in somatostatin- and factor XIIIa-immunoreactive dendritic cells in psoriatic skin were then studied in biopsies taken during treatment with clobetasol propionate or calcipotriol. We found a significant reduction in the number of somatostatin- and factor XIIIa-positive cells after both treatments. The rate of reduction in the somatostatin-positive cells differed between the groups and closely paralleled healing.

Most somatostatin-positive cells in psoriasis are found in the dermis. In view of the known effects of somatostatin on the immune system, these cells may regulate the function of surrounding lymphocytes. Somatostatin exerts its effects by binding to five distinct receptors (SSTR1-5). We used RT-PCR to map the mRNA expression of these receptors in normal blood T-lymphocytes and in eight leukemic T-cell lines. Normal T-cells, but not the leukemic T-cells, expressed mRNA for SSTR1 and SSTR 5. SSTR2, 3 and 4 were present in all the T-cells examined. SSTR5 was selectively expressed in activated normal T-cells. Normal T-lymphocytes and all the T-cell lines were negative with respect to somatostatin mRNA expression. Thus, although T-cells can respond to somatostatin, they do not seem to produce somatostatin themselves.

A prerequisite for the localization of T-lymphocytes in specific tissue sites, such as the skin, is that they can adhere specifically to endothelial cells and extracellular matrix (ECM) components. Somatostatin and somatostatin analogs specific for SSTR2 and/or SSTR3 enhanced the adhesion of T-cells to fibronectin, and to a certain extent also to collagen type IV and laminin. Thus, somatostatin regulates T-cell adhesion to ECM components via distinct receptor subtypes. Our findings indicate that somatostatin may be a major regulator of a fundamental lymphocyte function, the capacity of adhesion to ECM components. They also suggest that SSTR subtypes may be useful targets for therapy in disorders involving T-cells.

ISBN 91-628-4392-3

To Lotta, Henrik and Kristian

# MAIN REFERENCES

This thesis is based on the following papers, which are referred to in the text by their Roman numerals:

- I. Peptide T a new treatment for psoriasis? A study of nine patients. Jan A Marcusson, Toomas Talme, Lennart Wetterberg, Olle Johansson. Acta Derm Venereol 1991; 71(6): 479-483
- II. Histopathological and immunohistochemical changes in psoriatic skin during peptide T treatment. Toomas Talme, Barbro Lundh Rozell, Karl-Gösta Sundqvist, Lennart Wetterberg, Jan A Marcusson. Arch Dermatol Res 1995; 287(6): 553-557
- III. Somatostatin immunoreactive cells in lesional psoriatic human skin during peptide T treatment. Olle Johansson, Marita Hilliges, Toomas Talme, Jan A Marcusson, Lennart Wetterberg. Acta Derm Venereol 1994; 74(2): 106-109
- IV. Somatostatin- and factor XIIIa-immunoreactive cells in psoriasis during clobetasol propionate and calcipotriol treatment. Toomas Talme, Marianne Schultzberg, Karl-Gösta Sundqvist, Jan A Marcusson. Acta Derm Venereol 1999; 79(1): 44-48
- V. Colocalization of somatostatin- and HLA-DR-like immunoreactivity in dendritic cells of psoriatic skin. Toomas Talme, Marianne Schultzberg, Karl-Gösta Sundqvist, Jan A Marcusson. Acta Derm Venereol 1997; 77(5): 338-342
- VI: Somatostatin receptor (SSTR) expression and function in normal and leukemic T-cells. Evidence for selective effects on adhesion to extra-cellular matrix components via SSTR2 and/or 3. Toomas Talme, Jyrki Ivanoff, Maria Hägglund, Anna Ivanoff, RJ Joost van Neerven, Karl-Gösta Sundqvist. Submitted for publication

Reprints were made with permission from the publishers.

# **CONTENTS**

Abbreviations	7
Introduction	8
Psoriasis	8
T-cells in psoriasis	9
Somatostatin	10
Somatostatin and psoriasis	12
Dendritic cells and psoriasis	13
Peptide T	15
Aims of the study	16
Material and methods	17
Subjects and treatments	17
Clinical evaluation	17
Histopathological procedures and evaluation	18
Immunohistochemical procedures and evaluation	18
Cell preparations and culture conditions	21
Analysis of somatostatin mRNA expression	21
Cell attachment assays	22
Statistical analysis	23
Results	24
Peptide T treatment of psoriasis	24
Histopathological and immunohistochemical changes in psoriasis	
lesions during peptide T treatment	26
Somatostatin immunoreactive cells	26
Somatostatin-immunoreactive cells in psoriasis lesions during	
peptide T treatment	28
Somatostatin- and factor XIIIa-immunoreactive cells in psoriasis	

lesions during clobetasol propionate and calcipotriol treatment		
Immunohistochemical characterization of the somatostatin-		
immunoreactive cells in psoriasis	31	
Lack of somatostatin mRNA expression in T-cells	32	
mRNA expression of SSTR subtypes in human leukemic and		
normal T-cells	32	
Somatostatin and T-cell adhesion to ECM proteins	33	
Adhesion experiments with somatostatin analogs having		
various receptor affinities	34	
Discussion	35	
Peptide T	35	
Somatostatin-immunoreactive cells	37	
Somatostatin receptor expression and function in T-cells	39	
Conclusions	42	
Acknowledgements	44	
References	46	
Papers I - VI	58	

# **Abbreviations**

AIDS	Acquired Immunodeficiency Syndrome
BSA	Bovine Serum Albumin
CIV	Collagen Type IV
CD	Cluster of Differentiation
ECM	Extracellular Matrix
FCS	Fetal Calf Serum
FITC	Fluorescein Isothiocyanate
FN	Fibronectin
FXIIIa	Subunit A of Clotting Factor XIII
GTP	Guanosine-triphosphate
HLA	Human Leukocyte Antigen
IFN	Interferon
IL	Interleukin
Ig	Immunoglobulin
LAM	Laminin
MHC	Major Histocompatibility Complex
mRNA	Messenger RNA
PASI	Psoriasis Area and Severity Index
PUVA	Psoralen and Ultraviolet light type A
PCR	Polymerase Chain Reaction
PBS	Phosphate-Buffered Saline (pH 7.4)
RT-PCR	Reverse Transcription - Polymerase Chain Reaction
SSTR	Somatostatin Receptor
TPA	12-myristate 13-acetate
TRITC	Tetramethylrhodamine-Isothiocyanate Isomer R
VIP	Vasoactive Intestinal Peptide

# INTRODUCTION

#### Psoriasis

Psoriasis is a common inflammatory skin disease which affects about 2% of the Scandinavian population (Hellgren 1967). It can start at any age, and the age of onset shows two peaks: an early one at 16-22 years, and a later one at 57-60 years (Henseler & Christophers 1985). Patients with a family history of psoriasis tend to have an earlier age of onset (Henseler & Christophers 1985).

Clinical findings. Psoriasis is classified as a papulosquamous disease and appears in several clinical forms. The commonest variant is the *plaque form*, with well demarcated erythematous infiltrated lesions covered with silvery scales. The plaques tend to be symmetrical in distribution, the elbows, knees, scalp and nails being the most frequently affected locations. The guttate form, characterized by a rapid onset of teardrop-shaped lesions, often follows streptococcal pharyngitis. Guttate psoriasis tends to occur more often in younger persons. The *pustular form* is characterized by erythema, scaling and varying numbers of sterile pustules, which may be localized or occasionally generalized. Rarely psoriasis presents a generalized erythroderma when the skin becomes diffusely red and profoundly scaling. Psoriasis is associated with arthritis. The most widely accepted classification divides psoriasis arthritis into five subgroups: oligoarticular asymmetrical arthritis (the commonest form), symmetric polyarthritis, arthritis mainly involving the distal interphalangeal joints, the severe form of arthritis mutilans and the spinal form, including ankylosing spondylitis (Moll and Wright 1973).

*Histopathology.* The histological picture in a fully developed psoriasis plaque is characterized by elongated and club-shaped rete ridges resulting in acanthosis, elongation and edema of the papillae, thinning of the suprapapillary portions of the epidermis and absence of a granular layer. In the epidermis there is an increase in the number of keratinocyte mitoses, which is not limited to the basal layer as in normal skin, but is extended up to two rows of the cells above. The loss of keratinocyte differentiation is revealed by retention of nuclei within the stratum corneum (parakeratosis). The capillaries are dilated and tortuous. There is an accumulation of inflammatory cells consisting mainly of mononuclear cells, but with an admixture of neutrophil granulocytes, especially during exacerbation's. Increased numbers of lymphocytes are also found in the epidermis. Upwards migrating neutrophils may accumulate with formation of Kogoj spongiform pustules in the stratum spinosum and Munro microabcesses in the stratum corneum.

*Genetics*. Psoriasis is believed to be a multigene disease of which the expression is in part dependent upon external factors (Trupe 1995). The association of psoriasis to HLA-B13 was reported already 30 years ago (Russell et al 1972). Genetic associations have also been identified with the MHC alleles HLA-Cw6 (Tiilikainen et al 1980, Marcusson et al 1981), especially among patients with early onset (Enerback et al 1997), and to a HLA-DR7 (Marcusson et al 1981). The molecular genetic techniques of today try to identify disease gene loci by linkage studies. Because of the known association of HLA with psoriasis, much genetic research has focused on the sixth chromosome, where these genes are known to be located. Linkage for markers in that area have been shown by several research groups (Burden et al 1996, Trembath et al 1997, Enlund et al 1999). Other suggested disease loci have been reported in chromosome 17 (Tomfohrde et al 1994, Enlund et al 1999), chromosome 1 (Bowcock et al 1998, Capon et al 1999), chromosome 4 (Matthews et al 1996), and recently chromosome 3 (Enlund et al 1999). A complete genetic model for psoriasis at present, however, is not available.

The rest of this introduction will deal with T-cells, somatostatin, dendritic cells and peptide T in psoriasis, the main subjects in this thesis.

#### **T-cells in psoriasis**

The focus of research has gradually shifted towards activated immunocytes as being primarily involved in the pathogenesis of psoriasis. The T-cells form a major constituent of the inflammatory infiltrate in the papillary dermis, and they are also present in the epidermis. Immunohistochemical studies in the initial stages of psoriasis show that T-lymphocytes infiltrate skin lesions early in the evolution of plaques and before other cellular alterations (Baker et al 1984). Reports of the appearance (Gardembas-Paine et al 1990) and disappearance (Eedv et al 1990) of psoriasis after bone marrow transplantation indicate that the immune system plays a crucial role in the pathogenesis of psoriasis. Dermal endothelium is activated and expresses cellular adhesion molecules required for the recruitment of lymphocytes into inflamed tissue, particularly ICAM-1 and Eselectin (Groves et al 1991). The immunological events in psoriasis closely resemble a T-helper 1 type immune response, primarily accompanied by production of IL-2 and IFN-% (Barker et al 1991). ICAM-1 (intercellular adhesion molecule 1) is expressed on keratinocytes in psoriasis lesions, unlike in normal skin (Lisby et al 1989). Epidermal hyperproliferation can therefore be by an interaction between infiltrating T-lymphocytes facilitated and keratinocytes (Valdimarsson et al 1986, Stoof et al 1992). Activated Tlymphocytes may also induce keratinocyte production of autocrine growth

factors, and the keratinocytes can in turn secrete costimulatory factors to maintain the T-cell activation (Bos and De Rie 1999).

The T-lymphocytes in psoriasis lesions are mainly activated memory T-cells, consisting of CD4+ (helper) and CD8+ (cytotoxic/suppressor) subsets. The CD8+ T-cells form the majority in the epidermis and the CD4+ cells in the dermis. It is still uncertain which of the two subsets is primarily involved in psoriasis. Some studies show an initial influx of CD4+ T-cells (Baker et al 1984), others report an early infiltration of CD8+ T-cells (Hammar et al 1984). In support of CD4+ T-cells, it has been shown that intralesional injection of CD4+ T-cells from peripheral blood of patients with psoriasis can induce conversion of normal skin to psoriasiform eruptions in severe combined immunodeficiency (SCID) mice engrafted with healthy skin from psoriasis patients (Schon et al 1997, Nickoloff et al 1999). There are also reports of psoriasis improving after blocking the CD4 receptor by systemic administration of chimeric monoclonal antibodies to CD4 (Morel et al 1992). Others have suggested that intraepidermal CD8+ T-cells mediate the disease and that successful treatment of psoriasis correlates most closely with a reduction in the CD8+ T-cells (Gottlieb et al 1995).

Several factors are known to trigger the immunological process leading to psoriasis. As early as 1878, Koebner noted that injury to the skin could start this process (Koebner 1878). Other factors reported to initiate psoriasis include drugs such as anti-malarials, lithium, and  $\Im$ -blockers (Abel et al 1986), the withdrawal of systemically-administered corticosteroids (Baker and Ryan 1968), gluten intolerance (Michaelsson et al 2000), psychological stress (Farber and Nall 1974), alcohol abuse (Poikolainen et al 1990) and infection with HIV (Garbe et al 1994). The role of streptococcal infection in provoking acute guttate psoriasis has long been recognized (Norlind 1950). Since there is a sequence homology between streptococcal M protein and keratins it has been hypothesized that psoriasis is induced by streptococcal superantigen-mediated T-cell activation and is maintained by memory T-cells cross-reacting with epidermal keratin, which then leads to epidermal hyperproliferation (Valdimarsson et al 1996). Furthermore, it has been shown that streptococcal superantigen activation of T-cells selectively induces expression of the skin homing receptor, CLA-1 (Leung et al 1995).

Psoriasis responds to treatment modalities aimed at directly ablating the function of T-lymphocytes. Cyclosporin (Mueller et al 1979) and tacrolimus (Abu-Elmagd et al 1991) inhibit activated T-cell cytokine production, and are used as therapy for severe psoriasis. Clinical trials have been made with the toxin DAB389IL2 that depletes activated T-cells expressing the IL-2 receptor (Gottlieb et al 1995), the recombinant CD2-binding protein LFA3TIP (Krueger 1999), and monoclonal antibodies directed against CD4 (Morel et al 1992) and CD11a (Papp et al 1999).

## Somatostatin

Somatostatin-producing cells occur in high densities throughout the central and peripheral nervous systems, in the endocrine pancreas, and in the gut. They are also found in the thyroid, adrenals, kidneys, prostate, placenta and the skin (Patel 1992, Patel et al 1999, Reichlin 1983). Somatostatin functions as a neurotransmitter in the brain and inhibits the release of growth hormone and thyroid-stimulating hormone (TSH) (Brazeau et al 1973, Epelbaum et al 1994). In the gastrointestinal tract, somatostatin inhibits the release of virtually all hormones including insulin, glucagon, and gastrin, and it has a generalized inhibitory effect on gut exocrine secretion (Reichlin 1983). It also blocks the release of growth factors (IGF1, EGF, PDGF), and of cytokines (IL-6, IFN-%) (Blum et al 1992, Hayry et al 1993, Elliott et al 1998). Somatostatin affects several fundamental lymphocyte functions. It inhibits lymphocyte proliferation induced by mitogens and antibody production (Payan et al 1984, Blum et al 1993). Adhesive interaction with ECM components is of pivotal importance to migration and proliferation of the immune system and somatostatin has recently been reported to augment binding of peripheral blood T-cells to FN (Levite et al 1998).

Somatostatin exists in two bioactive forms, as a 14 amino acid peptide (Ala-Glyc(Cys-Lys-Asn-Phe-Phe-Trp-Lys-Thr-Phe-Thr-Ser-Cys)), and as a cogener of somatostatin-14 extended at the N-terminus called somatostatin-28 (Ser-Ala-Asn-Ser-Asn-Pro-Ala-Met-Ala-Pro-Arg-Glu-Arg-Lys-Ala-Gly-c(Cys-Lys-Asn-Phe-Phe-Trp-Lys-Thr-Phe-Thr-Ser-Cys)) (Patel et al 1999). Like other protein hormones, somatostatin is synthesized from a large preprosomatostatin 92 amino acid precursor molecule (Patel 1999). The human gene of preprosomatostatin maps to the long arm of chromosome 3. Secretion of somatostatin is affected by a broad array of secretogogues, ranging from ions and nutrients, to neuropeptides, neurotransmitters, classical hormones, growth factors, and cytokines (Patel 1992, Patel 1999, Reichlin 1983).

Somatostatin mediates its actions by a family of seven transmembrane-domain G-protein-coupled receptors which consists of five distinct subtypes (SSTR 1-5) that are encoded by separate genes segregated on different chromosomes (Raynor et al 1989). These receptors have recently been cloned and their function has been characterized, using selective ligands for the individual receptor subtypes (Rens-Domiano et al 1992, Yasuda et al 1992, Raynor et al

1992, Raynor et al 1993, Patel 1997, Hocart et al 1998). Various receptor subtypes may mediate different actions of somatostatin. For example it has been reported that SSTR2 and SSTR5 are the subtypes responsible for somatostatin mediated inhibition of growth hormone from the pituitary, while SSTR5 mainly inhibits insulin secretion from the pancreas (Tallent et al 1996, Fagan et al 1998). The natural somatostatin peptides, somatostatin-14 and -28, bind to all five receptor subtypes. Short synthetic peptides have been developed, which bind well to the SSTR subtypes 2, 3 and 5 (Hocart et al 1998, Patel and Srikant 1994).

The synthetic somatostatin analog octreotide, which has a longer duration of action, is now used in clinical practice to suppress the symptoms of neuroendocrine tumors, acromegaly, and prevent complications after pancreatic surgery (eds, Lancet 1992). Somatostatin has been shown to suppress the inflammatory reaction (Karalis et al 1994), and somatostatin has been used in several clinical studies to treat inflammatory disorders, such as psoriasis (Camisa 1994) and rheumatoid arthritis (Fioravanti et al 1995). New potent and more selective somatostatin analogs effectively inhibit proliferation and induce apoptosis in various cancer and leukemia cell lines (Keri et al 1996, Gianetti et al 2000). Consequently some somatostatin analogs have also been evaluated in clinical trials on malignancies known to express receptors for somatostatin, including breast cancer (O'Byrne et al 1999), hepatocellular cancer (Raderer et al 2000), and lymphoma (Sulkowski et al 1999).

#### Somatostatin and psoriasis

have identified Several neuropeptides been in skin human bv immunohistochemical staining and radioimmunoassay, such as calcitonin generelated peptide (CGRP), neuropeptide Y, somatostatin, substance P and vasoactive intestinal peptide (VIP) (Wallengren et al 1987, Pincelli et al 1993). Neurogenic inflammation is caused by the release of neuropeptides from free nerve endings. Neuropeptides have biological actions on cells involved in the psoriasis process, such as keratinocytes, endothelial cells, neutrophils, lymphocytes, macrophages, and mast cells (Raydchaudhuri and Farber 1998). The concentrations of neuropeptides in the skin range from about 0.1 to 5 pmol/g of tissue (Eedy et al 1991). Somatostatin immunoreactive nerve fibers and cells with dendritic morphology are found in human skin (Johansson and Nordlind 1984, Johansson and Vaalasti 1987). Somatostatin immunoreactivity has also been reported in Merkel cells (Fantini and Johansson 1995, Wollina 1992).

Somatostatin has been used in several open-label trials as infusional therapy for psoriasis. In 1981, Weber et al reported that 6 of 8 psoriatic patients were markedly improved by intravenous infusions of somatostatin given twice daily for 14 days (Weber et al 1981). A subsequent study by Weber et al showed that 22 of 26 patients improved with these infusions (Weber et al 1982). When Guilhou et al repeated these experiments, 6 of 20 patients had an almost complete remission and 2 a partial clearing (Guilhou et al 1982). Venier et al gave a continuos intravenous infusion for 96 h to 20 patients with severe forms of psoriasis, including 6 with severe arthropathy, and obtained total clearing in 11 patients, persistence of some psoriasis in 9 patients, and marked improvement in the 6 arthropathic patients (Venier et al 1988). In a study of somatostatin treatment in 18 patients with psoriatic arthritis, Matucci-Cerinic et al reported of a marked improvement in 8 patients and less marked in 4 (Matucci-Cerinic et al 1988). Only two double-blind placebo-controlled trials have been done. They had conflicting results. In a study of 21 patients, Matt et al found a significant clinical improvement in 70% of patients assessed after 15 days of somatostatin treatment (Matt et al 1989), while Gorsulowsky et al found no improvement in 20 patients treated (Gorsulowsky et al 1987). Camisa et al performed a doubleblind, placebo-controlled trial with 12 weeks octreotide treatment on 24 patients with plaque psoriasis. No significant improvement in body surface involvement was seen, although physician global assessment improved in the high dose group (Camisa 1994).

Although the test protocols in the different trials are not comparable, the compiled data suggest that somatostatin probably improves psoriasis and psoriasis arthritis, but the therapy has several drawbacks. Its duration of action with a half-life in the circulation of about 3 min necessitates a continuos intravenous infusion for sustained action. The effect of somatostatin is unselective with rebound hypersecretion of inhibited hormones, hyperglycemia and gastrointestinal side-effects.

#### Dendritic cells and psoriasis

Dendritic cells in human skin were first described by Paul Langerhans, who showed their presence in the epidermis in 1868 by staining with gold chloride (Langerhans 1868). These cells now bear his name. The Langerhans cells have characteristic inclusions of tennis racket-like granules in the cytoplasm, called Birbeck granules (Birbeck et al 1961). Langerhans cells represent about 2 - 4% of all epidermal cells. They are continuously repopulated by a mobile pool of precursor cells derived from the bone marrow (Stingl et al 1980). Human Langerhans cells express MHC class II antigens, CD1a and to a lesser extent CD4, on the cell surface, and they are able to interact with neighboring

keratinocytes and T -lymphocytes (Stingl et al 1978, Groh et al 1986). Langerhans cells function as specialized epidermal antigen presenters, since they induce allogeneic and antigen-specific T-cell activation in the epidermal lymphocyte reaction, and they are needed for epidermal cell-induced generation of cytotoxic T-lymphocytes (Stingl et al 1980, Pehamberger et al 1983, Braathen & Thorsby 1980). The number of Langerhans cells in psoriasis has been reported to be reduced (Haftek et al 1983, Lisi 1973, Bieber & Braun-Falco 1989) and increased (Baker et al 1984, Baker et al 1985). Studies of the earliest phases of development of psoriatic lesions indicate that these cells become involved in the pathological process at a very early stage (Placek et al 1988, Chowaniec & Jablonska 1979). An electron microscopic study of Koebner-induced psoriasis showed close contact between Langerhans cells and lymphocytes (Heng et al 1991). This suggests that Langerhans cells are also involved in the psoriasis process.

In psoriasis increased numbers of other cell populations with dendritic morphology are found especially in the dermis, located beneath the hyperproliferating keratinocytes and surrounded by T-cells. HLA-DR+ dermal dendritic cells, isolated from plaque psoriasis, are demonstrated to be effective stimulators of T-cell proliferation. They also mediate a T-cell response with production of high level of IL-2 and IFN-% (Nestle et al 1994). Subunit A of clotting factor XIII (FXIIIa) is expressed in a population of dermal dendritic cells mainly distributed in the upper dermis and around superficial blood vessels (Cerio et al 1989). FXIIIa-positive cells seem to be bone marrow-derived (Hle-I+) and coexpress monocyte, macrophage and antigen-presenting cell markers (HLA-DR, LFA-I, HLA-DQ, OKM5, Mo1, LeuM3), but not markers for Langerhans cells (CD1) or T-lymphocytes (CD2) (Cerio et al 1989). The number of FXIIIa-positive cells is increased in atopic eczema, psoriasis and mycosis fungoides (Cerio et al 1989, Fivenson & Nickoloff 1995). FXIIIapositive dermal dendritic cells have reported to be one of the three most proliferating cell types in psoriatic skin, the other two being T-cells and endothelial cells (Morganroth et al 1991). Other members of the dendritic cell family reported in increased numbers in psoriatic lesions are epithelium-lining cells that express CD45 (leukocyte common antigen) and HLA-DR, but not CD1 or FXIIIa (van den Oord and de Wolf-Peters 1994), and spindle-shaped cells expressing the macrophage marker CD68 (Boehncke et al 1995). Exactly how these different subsets of dendritic cells interact with each other, and with adjacent cells, such as T-lymphocytes, endothelial cells, fibroblasts and keratinocytes in psoriasis is still unclear.

## Peptide T

Peptide T is a synthetic octapeptide (Ala-Ser-Thr-Thr-Thr-Asn-Tyr-Thr) which has a sequence homologous with the envelope glycoprotein 120 (gp 120) of human immunodeficiency virus (HIV) (Pert et al 1986). Gp 120 is essential to attachment of the virus to the CD4 receptor on T-helper cells (Fauci 1988), but this receptor is also present on other cells, such as Langerhans cells and cells of the nervous system. Peptide T was designed to block the CD4 receptor in order to prevent binding and penetration of the HIV virus into the CD4-positive cell (Pert et al 1986). Gp 120-like neurotoxic activity of cerebrospinal fluid from HIV-infected patients can be blocked by peptide T (Buzy et al 1992).

In 1987, Wetterberg et al. reported an improvement in coexisting psoriasis in one patient, who was treated with peptide T for AIDS (Wetterberg et al 1987). Peptide T was then tested on 3 HIV-negative psoriasis patients. In 2 of them, all psoriasis lesions immediately improved, while in the third case, severe deterioration preceded clearance two months after cessation of this therapy (Marcusson & Wetterberg 1989, Marcusson et al 1989). These preliminary results suggested that peptide T may have an effect on psoriasis and we therefore decided to perform an open-label pilot study of peptide T in the treatment of 9 additional patients with psoriasis (I).

# AIMS OF THE STUDY

- to evaluate the clinical effects of peptide T treatment on psoriasis in a phase 1 study (I)
- to study histopathological changes in psoriatic lesions during peptide T treatment, with special emphasis on Langerhans cells, lymphocytes and somatostatin-immunoreactive cells (II, III)
- to compare the number and distribution of somatostatin-immunoreactive cells in psoriasis and healthy skin (IV, V)
- to study changes in the somatostatin- and factor XIIIa-positive cell populations in psoriasis during treatment with calcipotriol or clobetasol propionate (IV)
- to characterize the somatostatin-immunoreactive dendritic cells in psoriatic skin (V).
- to determine the expression of five somatostatin receptor subtypes in T-lymphocytes and T-cell lines (VI)
- to describe the effects of somatostatin receptor subtype specific signaling on T-cell adhesion by using somatostatin analogs specific for various somatostatin receptors (VI)

# **MATERIAL AND METHODS**

## Subjects and treatments (I, II, III, IV, V, VI)

(I). Nine HIV-negative patients with chronic recalcitrant plaque psoriasis were treated once daily with 2 mg peptide T in 500 ml saline intravenously (22-34  $\mu$ g/kg bodyweight) for 28 consecutive days. Topical and systemic therapies for psoriasis were discontinued 2 weeks before the study, except in patient no. 6, who was unsuccessfully treated with PUVA and etretinate until one week before. Only innocuous emollients were permitted during the study. All patients were hospitalized for the first week and then treated as out-patients. Patient no. 6 was an in-patient during the 4-week long treatment because of severe arthritis.

(II, III). Ten psoriasis patients were treated with peptide T for 4 weeks (9 patients in paper I and one previously treated patient). Punch biopsies were taken from one lesion before, once weekly during the treatment, and 4 weeks after treatment for histological and immunohistochemical examinations.

(IV). Twenty patients with chronic plaque psoriasis participated in the study. All previous therapy was stopped two weeks before admission to the study. Ten patients were treated with a topical corticosteroid, 0.05% clobetasol propionate ointment (Glaxo Wellcome Operations), applied twice daily during the first week, once daily during the second, every other day during the third and two days during the fourth week; 10 patients were treated with a topical vitamin D analog, calcipotriol 50  $\mu$ g/g ointment (Lövens Kemiske Fabrik) twice daily during 4 weeks. Punch biopsies were taken from a selected lesion before and after 1, 2 and 4 weeks of treatment. Biopsies of uninvolved skin from 6 of the psoriasis patients and from 10 healthy volunteers served as controls.

(V). Patients with chronic plaque psoriasis (5 patients in the double-labeling study, 8 patients in the elution-restaining study), who had not been treated for at least 4 weeks, were included in this study. Punch biopsies were taken from lesional psoriatic skin and uninvolved skin in the elbow region.

(VI). Lymphocytes were obtained from 10 healthy blood donors.

## Clinical evaluations (I, V)

(I). Clinical activity of psoriasis was assessed by using the <u>P</u>soriasis <u>A</u>rea and <u>S</u>everity Index (PASI), which rates the degree of scaling, erythema and thickness (induration) of plaques, as well as the percentage of body surface involved (Fredriksson and Pettersson 1978). In addition, three chosen target

lesions were rated concerning to erythema, desquamation and induration, and scored as 0 = no visible lesion, 1 = mild, 2 = moderate, 3 = severe (target lesion score). Clinical examinations were performed on day zero, once weekly during the first 8 weeks and every other week for the remaining 8 weeks over a total observation period of 16 weeks.

(IV). The clinical activity of the target lesion was scored for desquamation, erythema and induration, as described above.

## Histopathological procedures and evaluations (II, V)\_

### Histological score

(II). Biopsies from psoriasis lesions during peptide T treatment were fixed in 4% neutral buffered formaldehyde, dehydrated through a series of graded alcohol's, embedded in paraffin, and 4 Om thick sections were cut and stained with hematoxylin-eosin. All specimens were coded and scored on a scale from 0 (normal skin) to a maximum of 19, based on the cardinal microscopic features of psoriasis (Trozak 1991, Farber et al 1991). The following criteria were evaluated and scored: elongated and/or club-shaped rete ridges, elongation and edema of the dermal papillae, perivascular mononuclear infiltrates, absence of a granular layer, parakeratosis, suprapapillary plate thinning, mitoses above the basal layer, Munro microabcesses, and spongiform pustules. The number of lymphocytes infiltrating the dermis was estimated and scored as follows: (+) a few lymphocytes, + small, ++ medium-sized and +++ large lymphocytic infiltrates.

## Epidermal thickness

(II, V). The healing process of psoriasis was followed by measurements of the thickness of the living epidermis from the granular layer to the tips of the rete ridges (epidermal thickness), using an ocular micrometer. We calculated the mean of 20 consecutive rete ridges in two sections per biopsy.

## Immunohistochemical procedures and evaluations (II, III, IV, V)

#### Immunoperoxidase staining

(II). Biopsies from psoriasis lesions during peptide T treatment were immediately frozen and sections (5 Om thick) cut in a cryostat. The sections were fixed in acetone at 4°C for 10 min and incubated overnight with mouse monoclonal antibodies against CD1, CD3, CD4, CD8, CD25 and HLA-DR (for details and working dilution, see *Table 1*). The reactivity of antibodies to the biopsy sections was assessed using a biotin-avidin detection system (Vectastain ABC, Vector Laboratories) (Hsu et al 1981). All rinses before and after the

Antigen (study)	Dilution	Species	Cellular distribution	Source
Somatostatin	1:200	Rabbit	Nerve fibers,	Peninsula
(III,IV,V)	- 400	(polyclonal)	dendritic cells	
Factor XIIIa (IV,V)	1:800	Rabbit	Dendritic cells	Calbiochem
		(polyclonal)		
S-100 (V)	1:200	Rabbit	Melanocytes,	Dako
		(polyclonal)	Schwann cells,	
			Langerhans cells	
HLA-DR (II,V)	1:50	Mouse	Class II MHC	Becton Dickinson
		(monoclonal)		
CD1a (II,V)	1:25-50	Mouse	Langerhans cells	Becton Dickinson
		(monoclonal)		
CD3 (II)	1:50	Mouse	T-lymphocytes	Becton Dickinson
		(monoclonal)		
CD4 (II)	1:25	Mouse	T-helper cells	Becton Dickinson
		(monoclonal)		
CD8 (II)	1:25	Mouse	T-suppressor cells	Becton Dickinson
		(monoclonal)		
CD25 (II)	1:50	Mouse	IL-2 receptors	Becton Dickinson
		(monoclonal)		
CD35 (V)	1:10	Mouse	Follicular	Dako
		(monoclonal)	dendritic cells	
CD45RB (V)	1:25	Mouse	B-cells, T-cell subsets	Dako
		(monoclonal)	monocytes,	
			macrophages	
CD45RO (V)	1:50	Mouse	Activ.T-cells,	Dako
		(monoclonal)	monocytes,macro-	
			phages,granulocytes	
CD68 (V)	1:25	Mouse	Macrophages,	Dako
		(monoclonal)	monocytes	

Table 1. Primary antibodies used in the immunohistochemical experiments (II, III, IV, V).

incubations were performed with PBS. The primary antisera were omitted in control sections. Quantitation of the labeled cells per linear mm in the epidermis, papillary and upper reticular dermis were made using a light microscope (Leitz Dialux 22) at 400x magnification. We estimated the percentage of keratinocytes that expressed HLA-DR.

### Immunofluorescence staining

(III, IV, V). We used an indirect immunofluorescence staining technique according to Coons (Coons 1958). The skin biopsies were immersed for 3 h in 4% paraformaldehyde containing 14% saturated picric acid in 0.1 M Sörensen phosphate buffer (pH 7.4) at 4°C, and then rinsed in the same buffer containing 10% sucrose for at least 24 h. Sections (14 µm (II), 12 µm (IV, V)) were cut with a cryostat. The sections were incubated with the primary antibodies (for details and working dilution, see Table1) in a humid atmosphere at 4°C overnight. The sections were then incubated for 60 min at room temperature or for 30 min at 37  $\oplus$  C with a secondary antibody labeled with a FITC or TRITC (Dako). All rinses before and after the incubations were performed with PBS. The antisera contained 0.3% Triton X-100. Para-phenylenediamine was added to the mounting medium to prevent fading of the fluorescence, Paraphenylenediamine was added to the mounting medium (Johnson and Nogueira Araujo 1981). The specificity of the somatostatin antibody was tested by preabsorption with somatostatin-14 and in addition omission of the primary antisera served as control. The material was examined in a fluorescence microscope (Nikon Microphot-FXA (II); Zeiss Axioplan with a MC 100 Camera (IV, V)). All readings and measurements with the microscope were performed on coded sections.

(III). Sections from psoriasis lesions taken during the peptide T study were incubated with somatostatin antibodies. The number of somatostatin immunoreactive cells was ranked as follows: 0 = no immunoreactive cells; 1 = single cells; 2 = small groups of cells; 3 = large groups of cells; 4 = total coverage of cells. Three to six sections were examined per biopsy.

(IV). Sections from psoriasis lesions treated with clobetasol propionate or calcipotriol were incubated with antibodies raised against somatostatin or FXIIIa. Sections from uninvolved skin from psoriasis patients and from healthy volunteers served as controls. The labeled cells were counted per linear mm in the epidermis, the papillary dermis and the upper 0.25 mm of the reticular dermis in two sections per biopsy at 400x magnification.

(V). In the double-labeling experiments, sections from untreated psoriasis lesions were incubated with a mixture of somatostatin antiserum and antibodies

against one of the following antigens: HLA-DR, CD1a, CD35, CD45RB, CD45RO or CD68. The material was then examined with attention to colocalization of immunoreactivity against somatostatin and the other antisera. The somatostatin positive- and double-labeled cells were counted.

(V). In the elution-restaining experiments, sections from untreated psoriasis lesions were incubated with somatostatin antiserum, followed by incubation with TRITC-labeled secondary antibodies. After photographing of the somatostatin-positive cells, the antibody complex was removed by immersion of the sections for 1 min in a solution containing 1.6 ml 3% KMnO4, 2 ml 5% H<sub>2</sub>SO4 and 50 ml distilled water (Tramu et al 1978). The complete elution of the antibodies was controlled in all sections by reincubation with secondary antibodies. Sections with no immunofluorescent cells were incubated over-night with antibodies against FXIIIa or S-100, followed by incubation with TRITC-labeled antibodies. Micrographs of the same fields were taken and compared with those of somatostatin-positive cells.

#### Cell preparations and culture conditions (VI)

Mononuclear cells were isolated from ten healthy blood donors by centrifuging heparinized venous blood on a Ficoll gradient (Lymphoprep, Nycomed). Recovered cells in the interface were washed in PBS and the remaining erythrocytes were lysed with a buffer containing 0.15M NH4Cl, 0.01M KHCO3 and 0.1M EDTA. The remaining mononuclear cells were then treated with carbonyl iron and phagocytic cells removed by a magnet. The CD2+ blood Tcells for preparation of RNA were purified using anti-CD2-coated Dynabeads (Dynal). Recovered cells were resuspended in RPMI 1640 (Life Technologies Inc.) supplemented with 2 mM L-glutamine, 0.16 % sodium bicarbonate, 100 IU/ml benzylpenicillin, 100 Og/ml streptomycin and 10 % FCS. The cells were cultured in Nunclon bottles in a humidified  $CO_2$  incubator at  $37C \oplus$  and the cell attachment assays were done the following day. We also performed experiments on the human leukemic T-cell lines P 30, CCRF-HSB2, CCRF-CEM, DND-CCRF, Jurkat and Molt-4 (American Type Culture Collection), on the Sézary cell line HUT-78 (American Type Culture Collection), and on the normal human T-cell clone AF 24 (ALK Research Laboratories). The cell lines were cultured in complete RPMI, supplemented with 10% FCS, as described above.

#### Analysis of somatostatin receptor mRNA expression (VI)

#### Isolation of cellular mRNA

Somatostatin and SSTR mRNA were isolated from non-activated and TPAactivated CD2-positive human blood T-cells, and from the T-cell lines mentioned above (Chomczynski and Sacchi 1987). Cells from decidua and trophoblasts (T220) were used as a positive control (Watkins et al 1980).  $10 \times 10^6$ cells were collected by centrifugation, washed in 1x10ml phosphate-buffered saline (PBS) and 2x10ml DEPC-treated PBS before being dissolved in 1 ml of solution D2 (4M guanidine isothiocyanate, 25mM sodium citrate pH 7.0, 0.5% N-lauroyl sarcosine and 0.1- $\vartheta$ -mercaptoethanol). RNA was isolated from each of the cell lines, using 500  $\mu$ l of a cell suspension (= 5x10<sup>6</sup> cells). The following steps were carried out on ice in a RNase-free area: 100 Ol sodium acetate, 500 µl TE-saturated phenol (mix), and 200 µl chloroform/isoamyl alcohol (24:1) were added. The mixture was placed on ice for 15 min. After centrifugation (25 min,14,000 rpm at  $4\oplus C$ ), the upper phase, containing RNA, was carefully removed and transferred to new tubes. An equal volume of isopropanol (500 Ol) was added, and the tubes were kept at  $-20 \oplus C$  overnight. Centrifugation (20) min, 14,000 rpm at  $4\oplus C$ ) was carried out to pellet RNA. The supernatant was removed and the pellets resuspended in 400 Ol of solution D2. 800 Ol of 100% ethanol was added, and the tubes were kept at  $-20 \oplus C$  overnight. RNA pellets were collected by centrifugation (20 min, 14,000 rpm at  $4\oplus C$ ) and washed 2x1 ml in 70% ethanol. After the final wash, the tubes were allowed to air-dry for 45 min. The pellets were then resuspended in 30 O1 of DEPC-treated water + 0.5 Ol RNasin. RNA solutions were stored at  $-70 \oplus C$ ).

#### *Reverse transcription-polymerase chain reaction (RT-PCR)*

RT-PCR from 0.5 Ol of purified RNA was done in the presence of RNasin. Temperature cycling for the reaction was: step 1,  $42 \oplus C$  for 15 min; step 2,  $99 \oplus C$  for 5 min.

#### Polymerase chain reaction (PCR)

The primers for somatostatin and SSTR1-5 used for PCR are described in Paper VI. The temperature cycling for all reactions was: step 1, 94°C for 1 min; step 2, 55°C for 1 min and step 3, 72° for 2 min. Steps 1 through 3 were repeated 35 times, followed by 72°C for 10 min (Takeba et al 1997). Amplified products were run on 1.5% agarose gels with  $0.5\mu$ g/ml ethidium bromide. Bands were visualized on a UV-table and photographed using a CCD-camera.

#### Cell attachment assays (VI)

In the cell attachment assays, plastic Petri dishes (60 mm, Becton Dickinson) were coated with one of the ECM components FN, CIV and LAM, or with BSA 10 Og/ml in a buffer containing 0.02M NaH2PO4 and 0.15M NaCl (pH 7.4) at 22 $\oplus$ C overnight. After coating with these proteins, the dishes were washed in the coating buffer. A total of 2x10<sup>6</sup>/ml of T-cells were washed in RPMI supplemented with 10 % FCS, resuspended in complete medium and used in the

adhesion experiments. The T-cells were preincubated with somatostatin-14  $10^{-4}$  -  $10^{-8}$ M (in some experiments  $10^{-4}$  -  $10^{-14}$ M), with one of the somatostatin analogs listed in *Table 2* or with a negative control; in a humidified CO<sub>2</sub> incubator for 2 h at 37  $\oplus$  C. Somatostatin was also present during the adhesion assay. Unbound cells were removed after 1 h by gentle aspiration. Bound cells were fixed in cold glutaraldehyde 2.5% in PBS for 10 min and the adherent cells were counted using an inverted microscope (IMT-2, Olympus). Cells from five microscope fields were counted and the mean of the adherent cells was determined.

Peptide	Receptor selectivity	Source
Somatostatin 14	SSTR 12345	Sigma, Peninsula
Somatostatin 28	SSTR 12345	Peninsula
Octreotide	SSTR 235	Novartis
RC 160	SSTR 25(34)	Peninsula
NC 8-12	SSTR 23	Affinity

*Table 2.* Binding selectivity of somatostatin analogs to the somatostatin receptor subtypes (Patel 1994)

#### Statistical analysis (I, II, IV, V, VI)

Results were analyzed using one-way or two-way analysis of variance (ANOVA) with repeated measures of one factor. In the event of significant interaction between each treatment group and time, simple effects were examined, <u>i.e.</u>, effects of one or more factors when other factors were fixed. The p-values were then corrected by the Bonferroni procedure. The distribution of some of the variables was skewed and the data were therefore log-transformed to meet the requirements for an adequate ANOVA. When the compound symmetry assumptions were not valid in ANOVA, the F-test was adjusted according to Greenhouse & Geisser (Kirk 1968). In case of only two measures the results were analyzed by using Wilcoxon signed rank test within group and with Mann-Whitney U test between two independent groups.

## RESULTS

#### Peptide T treatment of psoriasis (I, II)

#### Clinical course

(I). Nine psoriasis patients were treated daily with 2 mg peptide T i.v. for 4 weeks and they were evaluated for a further 3 months, when no additional treatment was given. Five patients (nos. 1, 3, 5, 7, 8) improved in their PASI more than 50% during the study (referred to as responders), while 4 patient (nos. 2, 4, 6, 9) did not improve (referred to as nonresponders) (*Fig. 1*). Two patterns of healing were noted: first, a continuous improvement beginning with the peptide T infusions (patients nos.1, 3, 5, 8); secondly, an improvement preceded by deterioration (patient no. 7). No positive effect on the arthritis of patient no. 6 was observed, and he was excluded from the study after day 60 because of deterioration. All patients reported less desquamation and a reduced need for emollients during the treatment.



*Fig. 1.* PASI before treatment, after 4 weeks of treatment with peptide T, and during the follow-up. Five patients improved in their PASI >50% during the study (responders), while 4 patients did not respond to the treatment (nonresponders). Pat 6, who also had a psoriasis arthritis, was excluded after 8 weeks because of deterioration.

#### *Histological score and epidermal thickness during peptide T treatment*

(II). We also evaluated the peptide T treatment by assessing the histological score and epidermal thickness on blind coded specimen. All 5 patients who improved clinically also showed a reduction in the histological score (*Fig 2*) and the epidermal thickness. Among the 4 patients who did not respond, 2 patients showed initial improvement especially in the histologic score directly after treatment, but this change disappeared after cessation of peptide T (*Fig 2*).



*Fig 2.* Histological score before treatment, after 4 weeks treatment with peptide T, and after 8 weeks. All 5 patients (nos. 1, 3, 5, 7, 8) who improved clinically also showed a major reduction of the histological score (responders). Among the 4 patients (nos. 2, 4, 6, 9), who did not respond to the treatment (nonresponders), 2 patients (nos. 14 and 6) showed an initial improvement of the histologic score, but deteriorated after cessation of peptide T.

### Side-effects

(I). Patient no. 4 showed a reduction in the WBC (white blood cell count) from  $3.8 \times 10^9/1$  to  $2.2 \times 10^9/1$  (reference value  $3.0-9.0 \times 10^9$ ) 2 weeks after starting peptide T, and  $2.5 \times 10^9/1$  at the end of treatment. The differential count showed relative lymphocytosis (60%) during this period. Three weeks after the last dose, the WBC and differential count had normalized. No such hematological changes occurred in other patients. The blood pressure fell slightly, (mean 140/82 before the study, mean 125/79 after 4 weeks of peptide T treatment). There was no increase in susceptibility to infections. Three patients complained of headache, 2 of fatigue, 2 of dizziness, 2 of flatulence, and 3 of euphoria. The subjective side-effects were mild and none of the patients discontinued treatment because of them.

# Histopathological and immunohistochemical changes in psoriasis lesions during peptide T treatment (II)

The infiltrating lymphocytes were mainly located in the upper dermis, often in conjunction with the superficial vascular plexus. All patients with clinical improvement showed a marked reduction in the number of infiltrating lymphocytes after peptide T therapy. Two of the nonresponders (nos. 6 and 9) showed no change in the number of lymphocytes, in no. 2 the number decreased, and in no. 4 an initial reduction was followed by an increase. The CD3+ and CD4+ cells tended to decrease among the responders, but since we had no pretreatment values in two of them, no definite conclusions can be drawn. Most infiltrating lymphocytes were HLA-DR+. The CD1a+ dendritic cells increased in the epidermis in all those who were improved by peptide T. Although fewer HLA-DR+ dendritic cells were seen in the epidermis, they also increased in responders during the observation period.

The percentage of HLA-DR+ keratinocytes was below 10 in most cases, but 3 patients had much higher values (no. 6 - 75%, no. 7 - 40% and no. 9 - 35%). These patients also differed clinically from the rest. Patient no. 6 had severe arthritis and no. 9 had widespread psoriasis. The psoriasis in patient no. 7 initially deteriorated before it healed almost completely. During the same period, the percentage of HLA-DR+ keratinocytes decreased from 40% before treatment, to 5% 4 weeks after treatment.

## Somatostatin-immunoreactive cells (III, IV, V)

In the psoriasis lesions, somatostatin-immunoreactivity was seen in dendritic cells, which were mainly located in the papillary and upper reticular dermis, and surrounded by lymphocytic infiltrates (*Fig. 3A*). Some of the dermal

А

B

*Fig. 3.* Somatostatin-immunoreactive dendritic cells in psoriasis lesions were mainly found in the papillary and upper reticular dermis (x200) (A). Some of these cells were located just below the basement membrane and stretched their dendritic processes into the epidermis (x400) (B). A few somatostatin-positive cells were also seen in the epidermis (B).

somatostatin immunoreactive cells located just below the basement membrane, stretched their dendritic processes into the epidermis (*Fig. 3B*). We also found a few somatostatin-positive cells in the spinous and basal layers of the epidermis, and most of these cells were found close to other HLA-DR+/somatostatin-negative dendritic cells. The number of somatostatin-positive cells in the psoriasis lesions was significantly higher in both the dermis and epidermis than in the skin from healthy controls (dermis p<0.0001, epidermis p<0.001) (IV).

# Somatostatin-immunoreactive cells in psoriasis lesions during peptide T treatment (III)

The number of somatostatin-immunoreactive cells differed considerably from one patient to the other in the pretreatment biopsies. Nevertheless, changes in the somatostatin-positive dermal cell populations were seen in all cases during the treatment. In patients with only a few cells (nos. 4,6,7,8), the population increased and then decreased. In those cases (nos. 1,2,9,10) with more immunoreactive cells initially, a decrease was seen. Patients nos. 3 and 5 had a fluctuating pattern.

#### Somatostatin- and factor XIIIa-immunoreactive cells in psoriasis lesions during clobetasol propionate and calcipotriol treatment (IV)

#### Clinical course

Twenty patients with plaque psoriasis (10 patients in each group) were treated topically with either clobetasol propionate or calcipotriol. The clinical score, rating degree of erythema, desquamation and infiltration of the target lesion, improved significantly during treatment with clobetasol or calcipotriol ointment (p<0.001), but the improvement in the clobetasol group was faster and more marked (p<0.01). Although both treatments significantly reduced the epidermal thickness (p<0.001), the reduction occurred more rapidly in patients treated with clobetasol than with calcipotriol (p<0.001) (*Fig. 4*).



*Fig. 4.* Epidermal thickness (plot of means) during treatment with clobetasol propionate or calcipotriol. Significant differences between the groups are indicated (\* p < 0.05).

#### Somatostatin-immunoreactive cells

The number of somatostatin-positive cells was significantly reduced in the dermis (p<0.001) by the two treatments, but the reduction was more marked and rapid in the clobetasol group (p<0.001) (*Fig. 5*). In the epidermis, which had fewer somatostatin-positive cells, a significant reduction occurred only in the clobetasol group after 14 and 28 days of treatment (p<0.05).



*Fig. 5.* Somatostatin-positive cells in the dermis (plot of means) during treatment with clobetasol propionate or calcipotriol. Significant differences between the groups are indicated (\*\* p < 0.01, \*\*\* p < 0.001).

#### FXIIIa-immunoreactive cells

The FXIIIa-positive dendritic cells were mainly located in the upper dermis and around superficial blood vessels. These cells were more numerous than the somatostatin-positive cells in the dermis of untreated psoriasis lesions (p<0.001). The number of FXIIIa-positive cells in the dermis significantly decreased during treatment with clobetasol or calcipotriol (p<0.001), but this reduction did not differ between the two treatments (*Fig. 6*). In the epidermis, which had fewer FXIIIa-positive cells, the number of cells was reduced by both treatments after 14 and 28 days (p<0.05).



*Fig. 6.* FXIIIa-positive cells in the dermis (plot of means) during treatment with clobetasol propionate or calcipotriol. The differences between the groups were not significant.

# Immunohistochemical characterization of the somatostatin-immunoreactive cells in psoriasis (V)

In order to describe further the somatostatin-positive dendritic cells in psoriatic skin we studied the colocalization of somatostatin and antigens known to be expressed by other dermal dendritic cells and macrophages *(Table 1)*. Double-labeling experiments revealed a group of dendritic cells in the epidermis that were immunoreactive for both somatostatin and HLA-DR in all 5 cases examined. The number of these cells varied between 0.2 and 5 per mm

epidermis, which represented 0.3 - 14 % of the total population of HLA-DR+ dendritic epidermal cells. Only a few of the somatostatin-positive cells in the dermis coexpressed HLA-DR. No double-labeling was seen with somatostatin and CD1a, CD35, CD45RB, CD45R0, CD68, FXIIIa or S-100.

## Lack of somatostatin mRNA expression in T-cells (VI)

The expression of somatostatin mRNA in non-activated and activated CD2+ blood T-cells and in the T-cell lines listed in *Table 3* was analyzed with RT-PCR and PCR. The somatostatin primers were designed to detect mRNA for both somatostatin-14 and somatostatin-28 (Takeba et al 1997). We found no somatostatin mRNA expression in blood lymphocytes and in the T-cell lines.

# mRNA expression of SSTR subtypes in human leukemic and normal T-cells (VI)

The expression of mRNA for the five SSTR subtypes by the human leukemic Tcell lines CCRF-HSB2, CCRF-CEM, HUT-78, Jurkat, Molt-4, P30 and Peer, the human T-cell clone AF 24, and in non-activated and TPA-activated CD2+ blood T-cells was analyzed using RT-PCR and PCR *(Table 3)*. The leukemic T-cell lines expressed mRNA for SSTR2, 3 and 4, of which the amplified products for SSTR2 and SSTR4 were pronounced in all cell lines. Non-activated CD2+ cells from healthy blood donors expressed mRNA for SSTR1-4 of which the amplified product for SSTR3 showed the highest intensity, while activated CD2+ cells showed an intense SSTR5 band, but a weak expression of SSTR1-4. We found that normal blood T-cells and T-cell clones express SSTR1 and 5, while the leukemic T-cell lines show a weak or negligible expression of these receptors. It is also obvious that SSTR2, 3 and 4 are expressed in all T-cell lines, but vary in expression in normal T-cells in relation to activation.

Cell type	SSTR 1	SSTR 2	SSTR 3	SSTR 4	SSTR 5	_
P30	-	+++	+	++	-	
CCRF-CEM	-	+++	+	+	-	
Molt-4	-	+++	+	++	+	
Jurkat	-	+++	+++	++	+	
CCRF-HSB2	-	+++	+	++	-	
Peer	-	+++	++	++	-	
HUT-78	-	+++	+	++	-	
AF24	++	+	++	++	+++	
CD2	+	+	+++	+	-	
CD2(activate	+	+	+	+	++	
d)						

Table 3. Expression of mRNA for somatostatin receptor subtypes by human T-lymphocytes<sup>a</sup>

<sup>*a*</sup> Relative expression of mRNA for somatostatin receptor subtypes in human leukemic T-cell lines (P30, CCRF-CEM, Molt-4, Jurkat, CCRF-HSB2, Peer and HUT-78), the normal T-cell clone AF24 and normal nonactivated and activated CD2+ blood T-cells was determined by RT-PCR and PCR. The table summarizes the results of two identical experiments. Definition of symbols used in table: - no expression; + weak signal; ++ moderate-to-strong signal; +++ strong signal.

#### Somatostatin and T-cell adhesion to ECM proteins (VI)

To determine whether the expression of SSTR could have functional effects on T-lymphocytes, we evaluated the effect of somatostatin-14 on the adhesion of T-cells to surfaces coated with the ECM proteins FN, CIV and LAM. Somatostatin in a concentration of  $10^{-4}$ M and  $10^{-5}$ M significantly increased the adhesion of peripheral blood T-lymphocytes from healthy donors (n=10) to FN (p<0.001). Somatostatin  $10^{-4}$  -  $10^{-6}$ M tended to increase T-lymphocyte adhesion also to CIV and LAM.

Adhesion experiments with somatostatin were performed using the T-cell lines listed in *Table 3*. The leukemic T-cell lines showed a high spontaneous adhesion to FN, which was only slightly augmented by somatostatin. The leukemic T-cell lines showed weak "spontaneous" adhesion to CIV and LAM. Somatostatin markedly increased the adhesion of the T-cell lines to these ECM components. In repeated experiments with the Sézary T-cell line HUT-78, somatostatin

significantly increased the adhesion to FN in concentrations of  $10^{-4}$  M (p<0.01) and  $10^{-5}$  M (p<0.05), and also to CIV at  $10^{-5}$  M (p<0.05).

# Adhesion experiments with somatostatin analogs having different receptor affinities (VI)

Somatostatin-14 has a high affinity for all five SSTR, which would suggest that it can enhance adhesion via all these receptors. To determine whether a specific SSTR subtype is mainly responsible for the increased T-cell adhesion to ECM components induced by somatostatin, we did experiments with somatostatin analogs selective for various SSTR *(Table 2)*. NC 8-12 (highly selective for SSTR2 and 3) in a concentration of 10<sup>-4</sup>M increased T-cell adhesion to FN, CIV and LAM more effectively than the other analogs. The somatostatin analogs octreotide, RC 160, and somatostatin-28, increased T-cell adhesion almost to the same extent as somatostatin-14.

Thus, NC 8-12 and octreotide, which both have a high affinity for SSTR2 and 3, effectively increased T-cell adhesion. This finding and the observation that all the T-cell lines and normal T-cells, as shown by RT-PCR, expressed SSTR2 and 3 *(Table 3)*, support the conclusion that the enhancement of T-cell adhesion to ECM induced by somatostatin is probably mediated via SSTR2 and/or 3.

# **DISCUSSION**

The occurrence of psoriasis is due to an interaction between a genetically predisposed individual and environmental influences, but the exact cause of the disease remains unknown. Several types of therapy can induce a temporary remission, but there is no known permanent cure. Most treatments today are time-consuming and not cosmetic. Many patients are obliged to attend day-care centers several times a week. Systemic treatment is given only to the most serious cases because of its side effects. Thus, there is a great need for more research about the pathogenic mechanisms of this disease in order to develop new effective medications without severe adverse effects and which are easy for the patient to handle.

### Peptide T

Peptide T is a synthetic octapeptide designed to block the CD4 receptor and originally intended as medication for HIV-infections (Pert et al 1986). After peptide T had been given to 3 HIV-negative cases of psoriasis with promising results (Marcusson et al 1989), we performed an open phase 1 study, where 9 patients with chronic plaque psoriasis were treated with peptide T during 4 weeks (I). During the study, 5 patients showed an improvement in their PASI score of at least 50% (*Fig 1*). One of them had a marked deterioration before his psoriasis cleared. The latter had used a potent topical steroid continuously over a long period, and the deterioration that preceded healing was perhaps a rebound phenomenon after stopping topical therapy. Notably, 2 patients with chronic psoriasis for several years, were free from lesions for more than 6 months after the peptide T therapy (unpublished data).

We also followed the activity of psoriasis by histological scoring (*Fig 2*) and assessing epidermal thickness on serial biopsies taken from one selected lesion. These examinations confirmed the clinical findings (II). 4 weeks after discontinuing of peptide T, all the patients who had improved clinically also showed a significant reduction in their epidermal thickness and histologic score. In addition, 2 of 4 of the clinical non-responders showed an improved histologic score and epidermal thickness directly after peptide T treatment (*Fig 2*). However, their values returned to their original score 4 weeks after discontinuing the therapy. We might perhaps have achieved a more substantial clinical improvement also in these cases if the peptide T treatment had been prolonged or if higher doses had been used. We found that use of the histopathological score and epidermal thickness gave valuable additional information about the clinical activity. These methods also permitted a more unbiased assessment of healing in this small, open, clinical study, especially

since they were done on blind coded specimen. Both these evaluation methods have also been used in other clinical studies of psoriasis (Farber et al 1991, Gottlieb et al 2000).

After our initial report, other authors have reported their results with peptide T as treatment for psoriasis. In a trial by Farber et al, two comparable psoriasis lesions in 14 patients were infused for 2 weeks with saline or a saline solution containing peptide T (Farber et al 1991). They evaluated the lesions clinically and scored them in a double-blind fashion. They also took biopsies before and after treatment from both sites and scored them for histopathological features of psoriasis. The lesions infused with peptide T significantly improved both as regards the clinical score (p<0.01) and the histological score (p<0.05). In another open study with peptide T treatment of 5 cases of severe psoriasis, Delfino et al reported a complete remission in 1 patient and good improvement in 3, while no effect was seen in 1 case (Delfino et al 1992). Gulliver et al treated 10 psoriasis patients with an initial dose of 24 mg peptide T i.v., followed by intranasal administration of 6 mg/day for 55 days (Gulliver et al 1999). On completion of the treatment, the mean PASI had fallen from 16.4 to 4.0, but 3 patients had withdrawn from the study.

The mechanism by which peptide T may affect psoriasis is still unknown, but there are several possible mechanisms. Peptide T has been demonstrated to bind to CD4 (Ramsdale et al 1993). It may therefore interfere with the interaction between CD4+ T-cells and antigen-presenting cells, which is necessary for Tcell activation. Peptide T may also influence a putative interaction between CD4+ T-cells and HLA-DR+ keratinocytes found in psoriasis lesions. In our study, peptide T treatment resulted in an increase in the epidermal dendritic CD1+ cells in patients who had improved during treatment (II). CD1 is a marker for Langerhans cells and these cells also express CD4. Peptide T induces production of IL-10 and inhibits IFN- ½ production by peripheral blood monocytes (Raydchaudhuri 1999). IL-10 is a potent anti-inflammatory cytokine which resolves psoriatic lesions (Assadullah et al 1999), and psoriasis can be induced by IFN- ½ therapy (O'Connel et al 1992). Peptide T has also sequence similarities with VIP, and VIP can stimulate keratinocyte proliferation (Pincelli et al 1992).

Psoriasis is characterized by a clustering of activated T-cells in the skin lesions. The presence of these cells is believed to be one of the features that controls psoriasis since treatments that inhibit T-cell activation (e.g. cyclosporine and tacrolimus) cause the lesions to resolve. Substances which target various surface proteins that are needed for the interaction between T-lymphocytes and antigen-presenting cells and abolish subsequent T-cell activation provide a novel rational

approach for the treatment of psoriasis (Griffiths 1998). Advanced clinical trials with such substances are currently in progress (Abrams et al 1999, Krueger et al 1999, Gottlieb et al 2000). In the case of peptide T, the observations made so far indicate that peptide T may affect psoriasis, but there is, of course, a need for larger controlled clinical studies before we know whether peptide T can be used to treat psoriasis.

#### Somatostatin expression in dendritic cells

Neuropeptides including somatostatin, are probably present in sufficient amounts in human skin to affect various cell functions. In addition to their neurotransmitter and neuroendocrine functions, neuropeptides have mitogenic properties and can modulate responses of the immune system (Payan 1992). Evidence is accumulating that neuropeptides play an important role in the pathogenesis of inflammatory skin diseases (Pincelli et al 1992, Eedy 1993, Raydchaudhuri and Farber 1998). It has been hypothesized that stressful events and local trauma cause the release of neuropeptides, such as substance P from sensory nerves in the skin which, in turn, may initiate the development of psoriasis lesions in predisposed individuals (Farber et al 1986). This theory is supported by case reports of patients in whom cutaneous nerve damage resulted in clearance of their psoriasis at that site, but with reappearance of the skin lesions after recovery of cutaneous sensation (Farber et al 1990).

Our immunohistochemical evaluation of serial biopsies from psoriasis lesions during peptide T treatment revealed changes in a population of cells immunoreactive for somatostatin and with dendritic morphology (III). These cells were mainly found in the dermis. In the biopsies taken before treatment, we found variations in the number of immunoreactive cells in the patients. During the treatment, major changes in cell number (both increases and decreases) occurred in all cases. Nevertheless, the number of somatostatin-positive dendritic cells was lower in 7 of the 10 patients after the 4 weeks treatment with peptide T, than before treatment. The large fluctuations in numbers of the somatostatin-positive cells during peptide T treatment suggests that peptide T may affect these cells. As previously mentioned, peptide T has been shown to induce IL-10 production in monocytes (Raydchaudhuri 1999), and IL-10 reportedly induces somatostatin expression in macrophages and splenocytes (Elliott et al 1998).

The findings in paper III raised the question whether the somatostatin-positive cells are also affected by other established treatments for psoriasis. Serial biopsies were therefore taken from psoriasis lesions during topical treatment with clobetasol (a potent corticosteroid) and calcipotriol (vitamin  $D_3$ ) (IV).

They showed a significant reduction in the number of somatostatin-positive cells in the dermis during healing induced by both therapies. This reduction occurred earlier in the clobetasol-treated group than in those treated with calcipotriol (Fig 4). A significant reduction in the number of somatostatin-positive cells in the epidermis was only seen in the clobetasol-treated group, although far fewer of these cells were found in this skin compartment. Higher numbers of dendritic cells that express FXIIIa have been reported to occur in psoriasis lesions (Cerio et al 1989). Both treatments reduced the number of FXIIIa-positive cells in the dermis and epidermis, but unlike the somatostatin-positive cells, the reduction in FXIIIa-positive cells showed no relation to either topical treatment (Fig 5). The close correlation between clinical improvement and the reduction in somatostatin-positive cells (Fig 3,4), as well as the fact that somatostatin has been used in several studies to treat for psoriasis, may indicate that the somatostatin-positive dendritic cells play a role in healing of psoriasis. It may also suggest that somatostatin-positive cells are more sensitive to corticosteroid treatment than FXIIIa-positive cells.

The number of somatostatin-immunoreactive cells in the psoriasis lesions before treatment differed between the patient groups in Papers III, IV and V. Four of 10 patients in Paper III had relatively few somatostatin-positive cells before peptide T, while in Papers IV and V, all 28 patients had a high numbers of somatostatinpositive cells before treatment. We believe that these initial differences in cell number might reflect variations in the activity of the disease or were caused by previous treatments given. The patients in the peptide T study had more severe psoriasis, and were therefore more intensely treated until the 2-week long washout period before starting of the peptide T treatment (III). One patient, who had been treated with PUVA and etretinate, had extremely low levels of somatostatin-positive cells throughout the study. Another patient was given UVB treatment until a couple of weeks before he entered the study. All 4 patients with low initial levels of somatostatin-positive cells had used potent local corticosteroids before the peptide T study. Glucocorticoids exert a dosedependent biphasic effect on somatostatin secretion, with an inhibitory effect in high doses (Papachristou 1994). Treatment with PUVA and corticosteroids are known to reduce the number of Langerhans cells (Baker et al 1985), and may perhaps also affect other populations of dendritic cells, such as the somatostatinpositive cells. The treatments before peptide T administration may therefore have affected the number of somatostatin-positive cells, especially in those cases where only a few cells were seen in the lesions. A wash-out period of 2 weeks is commonly used in clinical studies of psoriasis. It is un-ethical to oblige patients with severe psoriasis to go without treatment for a longer period before a study, because it can cause a marked deterioration in their disease. Unlike the patients in Paper III, those in Papers IV and V had mild-to-moderate psoriasis, and

several had not used any therapy at all for several months before the initial biopsy was taken. This means that the pre-treatment biopsies in Papers IV and V probably give a more representative picture of the number of somatostatin-positive cells in psoriasis lesions before initiation of active treatment.

To characterize the somatostatin-positive dendritic cells in psoriatic skin further, we studied the colocalization of somatostatin and other antigens reported to be macrophages. expressed bv dermal dendritic cells and In the immunohistochemical double-labeling study, we found no co-expression of somatostatin and FXIIIa, CD1a, CD35, CD45RB, CD45RO, CD68 or S-100, but a small subgroup of these cells co-expressed HLA-DR (V). Since Merkel cells have been reported to express somatostatin (Wollina 1992), it was suggested after publication of our study that the somatostatin-positive cells might in fact be Merkel cells (Wollina 1998). To test this hypothesis, we also did a doublestaining experiment with somatostatin and neuron-specific enolase (NSE). NSE is a well-accepted marker for Merkel cells (Masuda et al 1986, Fantini and Johansson 1995). We found that hardly any somatostatin-positive dendritic cells in psoriasis also co-expressed NSE (Talme and Schultzberg 1999).

In conclusion, somatostatin-positive cells seem to represent a specific population of dendritic cells, which differ from Langerhans cells, FXIIIa-positive dendritic cells and Merkel cells (IV,V). They are found in greater numbers in psoriasis lesions than in normal skin of patients with psoriasis and healthy subjects (IV,V). The exact role of somatostatin and somatostatin-positive cells in psoriasis is not known. Somatostatin may affect various functions of immunocompetent cells involved in psoriasis. It has been shown to inhibit lymphocyte proliferation induced by mitogens, antibody production and cytokine production in CD4+ T-cells (Payan et al 1984, Blum et al 1993), as well as neutrophil chemotaxis induced by substance P (Kolasinski et al 1992). Nerve-induced vasodilatation and release of substance P are also inhibited by somatostatin (Gazelius et al 1981). A subgroup of somatostatin-positive cells found in the psoriatic epidermis co-expresses HLA-DR, which suggests that these cells are able to process and present antigens to T-cells.

#### Somatostatin receptor expression and function in T-cells

Most somatostatin-positive dendritic cells in psoriasis are found in the papillary and upper reticular dermis where they are surrounded by lymphocytic infiltrates. Since somatostatin is able to modulate responses of the immune system, it is conceivable that the somatostatin-containing dendritic cells in psoriatic skin can regulate the function of T-lymphocytes located in the same compartment. Somatostatin exerts its effects by binding to five distinct receptors, which have recently been cloned (Rens-Domiano et al 1992, Yasuda et al 1992, Raynor et al 1992, Raynor et al 1993, Patel 1997, Hocart et al 1998). Although somatostatin affects several fundamental lymphocyte functions very few direct studies have been done on the expression of somatostatin receptors on T-cells (Tsutsumi et al 1997, Cardoso et al 1998). Paper VI provides new information regarding SSTR expression and function in T-lymphocytes. By using RT-PCR, we have mapped the mRNA expression of the five different somatostatin receptors in normal blood T-lymphocytes, in eight human leukemic T-cell lines and in a normal human T-cell clone (AF24) (Table 3). The normal T-lymphocytes and the leukemic T-cell lines, showed some consistent differences and similarities with respect to SSTR expression. Thus, the normal T-cells expressed mRNA for SSTR1 and SSTR5 while the leukemic cell lines did not have SSTR1 and 5. The leukemic T-cell lines showed a strong expression of SSTR2, while normal Tcells had poor SSTR2 expression at the mRNA level. SSTR3 and 4 were generally present in all the normal and leukemic T-cells examined. Normal Tlymphocytes and all the T-cell lines studied were negative with respect to somatostatin mRNA expression. Although T-cells can respond to somatostatin, they do not seem to produce the neuropeptide themselves.

Controlled lymphocyte motility is a vital feature of the immune system and lymphocytes undergo a continuous transition between an intravascular and an extravascular state (Picker and Butcher 1992, Picker 1994). A prerequisite for the localization of T-lymphocytes at specific tissue sites, such as the skin, is that they can adhere specifically to endothelial cells and extravasate (Hauzenberger et al 1995). ECM components are present in basement membranes, perivascular connective tissue and connective tissue in interstitial compartments of various organs. After extravasation, interactions with ECM components, such as FN, CIV and LAM, play a crucial role in the ability of T-lymphocytes to migrate in to tissues and localize in specific areas. To further clarify the function of the somatostatin receptors in this context, we studied the effect of subtype specific signaling on T-cell adhesion, using somatostatin analogs specific for Various receptors (*Table 2*). We found that somatostatin analogs specific for SSTR2 and/or SSTR3 enhanced adhesion of T-cells to FN and, to a certain extent, to CIV and LAM.

T-lymphocytes express multiple SSTRs and somatostatin may therefore regulate cell functions via distinct receptor subtypes. It is now an important task to identify the exact function of each SSTR subtype in T-lymphocytes. Treatments, which interfere with the recruitment of skin-homing lymphocytes by inhibiting cell adhesion, and can prevent T-lymphocytes trafficking into the skin, should be useful as therapy for inflammatory skin disorders. The present study indicates that somatostatin may be a major regulator of the capacity of T-lymphocytes to

adhere to ECM components. Our findings suggest that different SSTR subtypes may be useful targets for therapy in disorders involving T-cells. The development of selective SSTR receptor antagonists should provide more information in this regard.

# CONCLUSIONS

- In an open study with peptide T treatment of psoriasis, 5 of 9 patients improved their PASI score >50%. The clinical results were confirmed by assessing the histopathological score and epidermal thickness on biopsies taken during the treatment. Peptide T treatment caused an increase in CD1+ dendritic cells and a reduction in infiltrating lymphocytes in those patients who improved during the treatment.
- Somatostatin-immunoreactivity was seen in cells with a dendritic appearance The majority of these cells were located in the dermis. More somatostatinpositive dendritic cells were present in psoriasis lesions than in normal skin.
- Colocalization of somatostatin- and HLA-DR-immunoreactivity was found in a subgroup of dendritic cells in psoriatic skin mainly located in the epidermis. No double-labeled cells could be detected in uninvolved skin. It is probable that these cells can process and present antigen to T-cells.
- The somatostatin-positive dendritic cells did not co-express CD1a, CD35, CD45RB, CD45RO, CD68, factor XIIIa or S-100, antigens, which have been reported to be expressed by other dendritic cells in human skin. These cells therefore probably represent a specific population of dendritic cells, distinct from Langerhans cells and factor XIIIa-positive cells.
- The number of somatostatin- and factor XIIIa-immunoreactive dendritic cells was significantly reduced by topical treatment with clobetasol propionate and calcipotriol. The rate of reduction in the somatostatin-positive cells differed between the two groups and closely paralleled the healing induced by both treatments.
- T-lymphocytes express somatostatin receptors (SSTR 1-5) related to activation and stage of differentiation and SSTR expression distinguishes normal and leukemic T-cells. Normal T-cells expressed SSTR1 and SSTR5 while T-leukemia cell lines did not. The leukemic T-cell lines showed a strong expression of SSTR2 while the normal T-cells showed a weak one at the mRNA level. SSTR3 and 4 were present in all the normal and leukemic T-cells.
- Normal T-lymphocytes and all the T-cell lines studied were negative with respect to somatostatin mRNA expression. Thus, although T-cells can

respond to somatostatin they do not seem to produce the neuropeptide themselves.

• Somatostatin and somatostatin analogs specific for SSTR2 and/or SSTR3 enhanced adhesion of T-cells to fibronectin and, to a certain extent, also to collagen type IV and laminin. Thus, somatostatin regulates T-cell adhesion to extracellular matrix components via distinct receptor subtypes.

## **ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS**

I wish to express my warmest gratitude to all those who have helped me throughout this study, and especially to:

*Jan Marcusson,* my supervisor, for introducing me to the field of dermatological science, for all your good and fruitful ideas, for always believing in me, and for constant support during my experiments.

*Karl-Gösta Sundqvist,* my co-supervisor, for introducing me to the field of immunology and cell biology, never-failing positive attitude and ability to arouse enthusiasm, and for providing me with excellent laboratory support.

*Marianne Schultzberg,* for teaching me immunohistochemical techniques and microscopy, for your support during my experiments, and for always being helpful.

*Eva Bergdahl*, for excellent technical collaboration in the laboratory, for patiently teaching me laboratory methods, and for always being kind and obliging.

*Olle Johansson and Marita Hilliges,* for introducing me in the exciting field of neuropeptides and somatostatin in human skin.

Barbro Lundh Rozell, for introducing me to the histopathology of psoriasis.

*Lennart Wetterberg*, for having taken the initiative and given us the opportunity to perform the peptide T study.

*Anna Ivanoff, Jyrki Ivanoff, Maria Hägglund and Joost van Neerven* for your collaboration in the somatostatin receptor study.

Inga Volkman, for skilled technical laboratory help.

Peter Lidbrink, for friendship, support and encouragement during these studies.

*Lennart Emtestam*, for friendship, all good advice and for always kindly answering my questions about various matters during this project.

*All my colleagues and co-workers* in the Department of Dermatology, for creating a friendly and encouraging environment.

My wife *Lotta*, for loving and faithful support during all these years of hard work.

This study was supported by grants from the Edvard Welander and Finsen Foundation, the Swedish Psoriasis Association and the Swedish Society for Medical Research.

## REFERENCES

Abel EA, Dicicco LM, Orenberg EK, Fraki J, Farber EM. Drugs in exacerbation of psoriasis. J Acad Dermatol 1989; 20: 97-100.

Abrams J, Lebwohl M, Guzzo CA, Jegasothy B, Goldfarb M, Goffe B, Menter A, Lowe N, Krueger G, Brown M, Weiner R, Birkhofer M, Warner G, Berry K, Linsley P, Krueger J, Ochs H, Kelley S, Kang S. CTLA4Ig-mediated blockade of T-cell costimulation in patients with psoriasis vulgaris. J Clin Invest 1999; 103: 1243-1252.

Abu-Elmagd K, van Thief D, Jegasothy BV, Ackerman CD, Todo S, Fung JJ, Thomson AW, Starzl TE. Fk 506: a new therapeutic agent for severe recalcitrant psoriasis. Transplant Proc 1991; 23: 3322-3324.

Aguila MC, Dees WL, Haensly WE, McCann SM. Evidence that somatostatin is localized and synthesized in lymphoid organs. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 1991; 88: 11485.

Asadullah K, Docke WD, Ebeling M, Friedrich M, Belbe G, Audring H, Volk HD, Sterry W. Interleukin 10 treatment of psoriasis: clinical results of a phase 2 trial. Arch Dermatol 1999; 135: 187-192.

Baker B, Swain A, Fry L, Valdimarsson H. Epidermal T lymphocytes and HLA-DR expression in psoriasis. Br J Dermatol 1984; 110: 555-564.

Baker BS, Swain AF, Griffiths CE, Leonard JN, Fry L, Valdimarsson H. Epidermal T lymphocytes and dendritic cells in chronic plaque psoriasis: the effects of PUVA treatment. Clin Exp Immunol 1985; 61: 526-534.

Baker BS, Swain AF, Griffiths CE, Leonard JN, Fry L, Valdimarsson H. The effects of topical treatment with steroids or dithranol on epidermal T lymphocytes and dendritic cells in psoriasis. Scand J Immunol 1985; 22: 471-477.

Baker H, Ryan TJ. Generalized pustular psoriasis. A clinical and epidemiological study of 104 cases. Br J Dermatol 1968; 80: 771-793.

Barker JN. The pathophysiology of psoriasis. Lancet 1991; 338: 227-230.

Barker JN, Karabin GD, Stoof TJ, Sarma VJ, Dixit VM, Nickoloff BJ. Detection of interferon- $\frac{1}{2}$  mRNA in psoriatic epidermis by polymerase chain reaction. J Dermatol Sci 1991; 2: 106-111.

Bieber T, Braun-Falco O. Distribution of CD1a-positive cells in psoriatic skin during the evolution of the lesions. Acta Derm Venereol 1989; 69: 175-178.

Birbeck MS, Breathnach AS, Everall JD. An electron microscopic study of basal melanocytes and high level clear cells (Langerhans cells) in vitiligo. J Invest Dermatol 1961; 37: 51-64.

Blum AM, Metwali A, Mathew RC, Elliott D, Weinstock JV. Granuloma T lymphocytes in murine Schistosomiasis mansoni have somatostatin receptors and respond to somatostatin with decreased IFN-<sup>3</sup>/<sub>20</sub> secretion. J Immunol 1992; 149: 3621-3626.

Blum AM, Metwali A, Mathew RC, Elliott D, Weinstock JV. Substance P and somatostatin can modulate the amount of IgG2a secreted in response to schistosome egg antigens in murine Schistosomiasis mansoni. J Immunol 1993; 151: 6994-7004.

Boehncke WH, Wortmann S, Kaufmann R, Mielke V, Sterry W. A subset of macrophages located along the basement membrane ("lining cells") is a characteristic histopathological feature of psoriasis. Am J Dermatopathol 1995; 17: 139-144.

Bos JD, DeRie MA. The pathogenesis of psoriasis: immunological facts and speculations. Immunol Today 1999; 20: 40-46.

Bowcock AM, Barnes R, Wilson R, Kuykendall L, Young M, Zhao C, Marcos Y, Stasny P, Cao K, Fernandez-Vian MA, Menter A. Further evidence for psoriasis susceptibility loci on chromosomes 6p21 and 17q and evidence for novel candidate regions at 1q21-q23, 4q13-q21 and 4q31. J Invest Dermatol 1998; 110: 616.

Braathen LR, Thorsby E. Studies on human epidermal Langerhans cells. Allo-activating and antigen-presenting capacity. Scand J Immunol 1980; 11: 401-408.

Brazeau P, Vale WW, Burgus R, Ling N, Butcher M, Rivier J, Guillemin R. Hypothalamic peptide that inhibits the secretion of immunoreactive pituitary growth hormone. Science 1973; 179: 77-79.

Burden AD, Javed S, Hodgins M, Arngrimssom R, Connor M, Tillman DM. Linkage to chromosome 6p and exclusion of chromosome 17q in familial psoriasis in Scotland (abstract). Br J Dermatol 1996; 135: 827.

Buzy J, Brenneman DE, Pert CB, Martin A, Salazar A, Ruff MR. Potent gp 120-like neurotoxic activity in the cerebrospinal fluid of HIV-infected individuals is blocked by peptide T. Brain Res 1992; 598: 10-18.

Camisa C. Somatostatin therapy. In: Roenigk HH, Maibach H, eds. Psoriasis. Second edition. New York: Marcel Dekker, Inc., 1991: 829-846.

Capon F, Novelli G, Semprini S, Clementi M, Nudo M, Vultaggio P, Mazzanti C, Gobello T, Botta A, Fabrizi G, Dallapiccola B. Searching for psoriasis susceptibility genes in Italy: Genome scan and evidence for a new locus on chromosome 1. J Invest Dermatol 1999; 112: 32-35.

Cardoso A, el Ghamrawy C, Gaultron JP, Horvat B, Gautier N, Enjalbert A, Krantic S. Somatostatin increases mitogen-induced IL-2 secretion and proliferation of human Jurkat T cells via sst3 receptor isotype. J Cell Biochem 1998; 68: 62-73.

Cerio R, Spaull JR, Wilson-Jones E. Histiocytoma cutis: a tumor of dermal dendrocytes (dermal dendrocytoma). Br J Dermatol 1989; 120: 197-206.

Cerio R, Griffiths CE, Cooper KD, Nickoloff BJ, Headington JT. Characterization of factor XIIIa-positive dermal dendritic cells in normal and inflamed skin. Br J Dermatol 1989; 212: 421-431.

Chomczynski P, Sacchi N. Single-step method of RNA isolation by acid guanidine thiocyanate-phenol-chloroform extraction. Anal Biochem 1987; 162: 156-159.

Chowaniec O, Jablonska S. Pre-pin-point papules. Changes preceding pin-point lesions of psoriasis. Acta Derm Venereol Suppl 1979; 85: 39-45.

Coons AH. Fluorescent antibody methods. In: Danielli JF, ed. General cytochemical methods. Vol 1. New York: Academic Press, 1958: 399-422.

Delfino M, Fabrocini G, Brunetti B, Procaccini EM, Santoianni P. Peptide T in the treatment of psoriasis. Acta Derm Venereol 1992; 72: 68-69.

Editorial. Octreotide steaming ahead. Lancet 1992; 339: 837-839.

Eedy DJ, Burrows D, Bridges JM, Jones FG. Clearance of severe psoriasis after allogeneic bone marrow transplantation. BMJ 1990; 300: 908.

Eedy DJ, Johnston CF, Shaw C, Buchanan KD. Neuropeptides in psoriasis: An immunohistochemical and radioimmunoassay study. J Invest Dermatol 1991; 4: 434-438.

Eedy DJ. Neuropeptides in skin. Br J Dermatol 1993; 128: 597-605.

Elliott DE, Metwali A, Blum AM, Sandor M, Lynch R, Weinstock JV. T lymphocytes isolated from the hepatic granulomas of schistosome-infected mice express somatostatin receptor subtype II (SSTR2) messenger RNA. J Immunol 1994; 153: 1180-1186.

Elliott DE, Blum AM, Li J, Metwali A, Weinstock JV. Preprosomatostatin messenger RNA is expressed by inflammatory cells and induced by inflammatory mediators and cytokines. J Immunol 1998; 160: 3997-4003.

Enerback C, Martinsson T, Inerot A, Wahlström J, Enlund F, Yhr M, Samuelsson L, Swanbeck G. Significantly earlier age at onset for the HLA-Cw6-positive than for the Cw6-negative psoriatic sibling (letter). J Invest Dermatol 1997; 109: 695-696.

Enlund F, Wahlström J, Yhr M, Torinsson A, Martinsson T, Swanbeck G. Analysis of three suggested psoriasis susceptibility loci in a large Swedish set of families: confirmation of linkage to chromosome 6p (HLA region), and to 17q, but not to 4q. Hum Hered 1999; 49: 2-8.

Enlund F, Samuelsson L, Enerback C, Inerot A, Wahlström J, Yhr M, Torinsson A, Riley J, Swanbeck G, Martinsson T. Psoriasis susceptibility locus in chromosome region 3q21 identified in patients from southwest Sweden. Eur J Hum Genet 1999; 7: 783-790.

Epelbaum J, Dornauad P, Fodor M, Viollet C. The neurobiology of somatostatin. Crit Rev Neurobiol 1994; 153: 1180-1186.

Fagan SP, Azizzadeh A, Moldovan S, Ray MK, Adrian TE, Ding X, Coy DH, Brunicardi FC. Insulin secretion is inhibited by subtype five somatostatin receptor in the mouse. Surgery 1998; 124: 254-258.

Fantini F, Johansson O. Neurochemical markers in human cutaneous Merkel cells. An immunohistochemical investigation. Exp Dermatol 1995; 4: 365-371.

Farber EM, Nall ML. The natural history of psoriasis in 5600 patients. Dermatologica 1974; 148: 1-18.

Farber EM, Nickoloff BJ, Recht B, Fraki J. Stress, symmetry and psoriasis: possible role of neuropeptides. J Am Acad Dermatol 1986; 14: 305-311.

Farber EM, Lanigan S, Boer J. The role of cutaneous sensory nerves in the maintenance of psoriasis. Int J Dermatol 1990; 29: 418-420.

Farber EM, Cohen E, Trozak D, Wilkinson D. Peptide T improves psoriasis when infused into lesions in nanogram amounts. J Am Dermatol 1991; 25: 658-664.

Farber EM, Raydchaudhuri SP, Jiang WY, Schall TJ, Ruff MR, Pert CB. Upregulation of RANTES in psoriatic keratinocytes: a possible pathogenic mechanism for psoriasis. Acta Derm Venereol 1999; 79: 9-11.

Fauci A. The human immunodeficiency virus: Infectivity and mechanisms of pathogenesis. Science 1988; 239: 617-622.

Fioravanti A, Govoni M, La Montagna G, Perpignano G, Tirri G, Trotta F, Bogliolo A, Ciocci A, Mauceri MT, Marcolongo R. Somatostatin 14 and joint inflammation: evidence for intraarticular efficacy of prolonged administration in rheumatoid arthritis. Drugs Exp Clin Res 1995; 21: 97-103.

Fithian E, Kung P, Goldstein G, Rubenfeld M, Fenoglio C, Edelson R. Reactivity of Langerhans cell with hybridoma antibody. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 1981; 78: 2541-2544.

Fivenson DP, Nickoloff BJ. Distinctive dendritic cell subsets expressing factor XIIIa, CD1a, CD1b and CD1c in mycosis fungoides and psoriasis. J Cutan Pathol 1995; 22: 223-228.

Fredriksson T, Pettersson U. Severe psoriasis - oral therapy with a new retinoid. Dermatologica 1978; 157: 238-244.

Garbe C, Husak R, Orfanos CE. HIV-associated dermatoses and their prevalence in 456 HIVinfected individuals. Relation to immunological status and diagnostic significance. Hautarzt 1994; 45: 623-629.

Gardembas-Pain M, Ifrah N, Foussard C, Boasson M, Saint Andre JP, Verret JL. Psoriasis after allogeneic bone marrow transplantation (letter). Arch Dermatol 1990; 126: 1523.

Gazelius B, Brodin E, Olgart L, Panopoulos P. Evidence that substance P is a mediator of antidromic vasodilatation using somatostatin as a release inhibitor. Acta Physiol Scand 1981; 113: 155-159.

Gianetti N, Enjalbert A, Krantic S. Somatostatin analog SMS 201995 inhibits proliferation in human leukemia T-cell line: Relevance of the adenyl cyclase stimulation. J Cell Biochem 2000; 78: 666-673.

Gorsulowsky D, Ellis C, Milgraurn S, Hamilton T, Voorhees JJ, Gallo-Torres H. Intravenous somatostatin for treatment of severe psoriasis. Read before the Summer Session of the American Academy of Dermatology, San Diego, 1987.

Gottlieb A, Krueger J, Bright R, Ling M, Lebwohl M, Kang S, Feldman S, Spellman M, Wittkowski K, Ochs H, Jardieu P, Bauer R, White M, Dedrick R, Garovoy M. Effects of administration of a single dose of a humanized monoclonal antibody to CD11a on the immunobiology and clinical activity of psoriasis. J Am Acad Dermatol 2000; 42: 428-435.

Griffiths CE. Novel therapeutic approaches to psoriasis. Hosp Med 1998; 59: 539-542.

Groh V, Tani M, Harrer A, Wolff KM, Stingl G. Leu-3/T4 expression on epidermal Langerhans cells in normal and diseased skin. J Invest Dermatol 1986; 86: 115-120.

Groves RW, Allen MH, Barker JN, Haskard DO, MacDonald DM. Endothelial leukocyte adhesion molecule-1 (ELAM-1) expression in cutaneous inflammation. Br J Dermatol 1991; 124: 117-123.

Guilhou JJ, Boulanger A, Barneon G, Vic P, Meynadier J, Tardieau JC, Clot J. Somatostatin treatment of psoriasis. Arch Dermatol Res 1982; 274: 249-257.

Gulliver WP, Adams M, Farrand D, Farber EM. Peptide T - a novel neuropeptide analog for the treatment of psoriasis (abstract). Br J Dermatol 1999; 141: 980.

Haftek M, Faure M, Schmitt D, Thivolet J. Langerhans cells from patients with psoriasis: Quantitative and qualitative study of T6 and HLA-DR antigen-expressing cells and changes with aromatic retinoid administration. J Invest Dermatol 1983; 81: 10-14.

Hauzenberger D, Klominek J, Bergström SE, Sundqvist KG. T lymphocyte migration: The influence of interactions via adhesion molecules, the T cell receptor and cytokines. Crit Rev Immunol 1995; 15: 285-316.

Hayry P, Raisanen A, Ustinov J, Mennander A, Paavonen T. Somatostatin analog Lanreotide inhibits myocyte replication and several growth factors in allograft arteriosclerosis. FASEB J 1993; 7: 1055-1060.

Hellgren L. Psoriasis: The prevalence in sex, age and occupational groups in total populations in Sweden. Morphology, inheritance and association with other skin and rheumatic diseases. Stockholm; Almqvist & Wiksell 1967: 19-53.

Heng M, Allen S, Haberfelde G, Song M. Electron microscopic and immunocytochemical studies of the sequence of events in psoriatic plaque formation following tape-stripping. Br J Dermatol 1991; 125: 548-556.

Henseler T, Christophers E. Psoriasis of early and late onset: characterization of two types of psoriasis. J Am Acad Dermatol 1985; 16: 450-456.

Hocart SJ, Jain R, Murphy WA, Taylor JE, Morgan B, Coy DH. Potent antagonists of somatostatin: synthesis and biology. J Med Chem 1998; 41: 1146-1154.

Hsu SM, Raine L Fanger H. A comparative study of the peroxidase-antiperoxidase method and an avidin-biotin complex method for studying polypeptide hormones with radioimmunoassay antibodies. Am J Clin Pathol 1981; 75: 734-738.

Johansson O, Nordlind K. Immunohistochemical localization of somatostatin-like immunoreactivity in skin lesions from patients with urticaria pigmentosa. Virchows Arch 1984; 46: 155-164.

Johansson O, Vaalasti A. Immunohistochemical evidence for the presence of somatostatincontaining sensory nerve fibres in the human skin. Neurosci Lett 1987; 73: 225-230.

Johnson DG, Nogueira Araujo GM. A simple method of reducing the fading of immunofluorescence during microscopy. J Immunol Methods 1981; 43: 349-350.

Karalis K, Mastorakos G, Chrousos GP, Tolis G. Somatostatin analogues suppress the inflammatory reaction in vivo. J Clin Invest 1994; 93: 2000-2006.

Keri GY, Érchegyi J, Horvath A, Mezö I, Idei M. Vántus T, Balogh Á, Vadász ZS, Bökönyi GY, Seprödi J, Tejeda M, Gaál D, Szegedi ZS, Szende B, Roze C, Kalthoff H, Ullrich A. A tumor-selective somatostatin analog (TT-232) with strong *in vitro* and *in vivo* antitumor activity. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 1996; 93: 12513-12518.

Kirk R. Experimental design: Procedures for the behavioral sciences. Brools/Cole Belmont, California 1968.

Klareskog L, Malmnäs-Tjernlund U, Forsum U, Peterson PA. Epidermal Langerhans cell express Ia antigens. Nature 1977; 268: 248-250.

Koebner H. Klinische, experimentelle und therapeutische mitteilungen über psoriasis. Berliner Klinische Wochenschrift 1878; 21: 325-329.

Kolasinski S, Haines K, Siegel E, Cronstein B, Abramson S. Neuropeptides and inflammation. A somatostatin analog as a selective antagonist of neutrophil activation by substance P. Arthr Rheum 1992; 35: 369-375.

Krueger GG. Phase II trial results of AMEVIVE<sup>TM</sup> (LFA3TIP) in patients with chronic plaque psoriasis. Br J Dermatol 1999; 141: 979.

Langerhans P. Über die nerven der menschlichen haut. Virchovs Arch Pathol Anat 1868; 44: 325-337.

Leczinsky CG. The incidence of arthropathy in a ten-year series of psoriasis cases. Acta Derm Venereol 1948; 28: 483-487.

Leung DY, Gately M, Trumble A, Ferguson-Darnell B, Schlievert PM, Picker LJ. Bacterial superantigens induce T cell expression of the skin-selective homing receptor, the cutaneous lymphocyte-associated antigen, via stimulation of interleukin 12 production. J Exp Med 1995; 181: 747-753.

Levite M, Cahalon L, Hershkoviz R, Steinman L, Lider O. Neuropeptides, via specific receptors, regulate T cell adhesion to fibronectin. J Immunol 1998; 160: 993-1000.

Lisby S, Ralfkiaer E, Rothlein R, Vejlsgaard GL. Intercellular adhesion molecule (ICAM-1) expression correlated to inflammation. Br J Dermatol 1989; 120: 479-484.

Lisi P. Investigation on Langerhans cells in pathological human epidermis. Acta Derm Venereol 1973; 53: 425-428.

Marcusson JA, Johannesson A, Möller E. HLA-A,B,C and DR antigens in psoriasis. Tissue Antigens 1981; 17: 525-529.

Marcusson JA, Wetterberg L. Peptide T in the treatment of psoriasis and psoriatic arthritis. A case report. Acta Derm Venereol 1989; 69: 86-88.

Marcusson J A, Lazega D, Pert C, Ruff M, Sundqvist KG, Wetterberg L. Peptide T and psoriasis. Acta Derm Venereol (Stockh) 1989; Suppl 146: 117-121.

Masuda T, Ikeda S, Tajima K, Kawamura T. Neuron-specific enolase: A specific marker for Merkel cells in human epidermis. J Dermatol 1986; 13: 67-69.

Matt LH, Kingston TP, Lowe NJ. Treatment of severe psoriasis with intravenous somatostatin. J Dermatol Treatm 1989; 181: 81-82.

Matthews D, Fry L, Powles A, Weber J, McCarthy M, Fischer E, Davies K, Williamson R. Evidence that a locus for familial psoriasis maps on chromosome 4q. Nat Genet 1996; 14: 231-233.

Matucci- Cerinic M, Lotti T, Cappugi P, Boddi V, Fattorni L, Panconesi E. Somatostatin treatment of psoriatic arthritis. Int J Dermatol 1988; 27: 56-58.

Michaelsson G, Gerdén B, Hagforsen E, Nilsson B, Pihl-Lundin I. Psoriasis patients with antibodies to gliadin can be improved by a gluten-free diet. Br J Dermatol 2000; 142: 44-51.

Moll JMH, Wright V. Psoriatic arthritis. Semin Arthritis Rheum 1973; 3: 55-78.

Morel P, Revillard JP, Nicolas JF, Wijdenes J, Rizova H, Thivolet J. Anti-CD4 monoclonal antibody therapy in severe psoriasis. J Autoimmunol 1992; 5: 465-477.

Morganroth GS, Chan LS, Weinstein GD, Voorhees JJ, Cooper KD. Proliferating cells in psoriatic dermis are comprised primarily of T cells, endothelial cells, and factor XIIIa+ perivascular dendritic cells. J Invest Dermatol 1991; 96: 333-340.

Mueller W, Hermann B. Cyclosporine A for psoriasis. N Engl J Med 1979; 301: 555.

Nestle FO, Turka LA, Nickoloff BJ. Characterization of dermal dendritic cells in psoriasis. Autostimulation of T lymphocytes and induction of Th1 type cytokines. J Clin Invest 1994; 94: 202-209.

Nickoloff BJ, Wrone-Smith T, Bonish B, Porcelli SA. Response of murine and normal skin to injection of allogeneic blood-derived psoriatic immunocytes: detection of T cells expressing receptors typically present on natural killer cells including CD95, CD158 and CD161. Arch Dermatol 1999; 89: 1783-1795.

Norlind R. Psoriasis following infections with hemolytic streptococci. Acta Derm Venereol 1950; 30: 63-72.

O'Byrne KJ, Dobbs N, Propper DJ, Braybrooke JP, Koukourakis MI, Mitchell K, Woodhull J, Talbot DC, Schally AV, Harris AL. Phase II study of RC-160 (vapreotide), an octapeptide analogue of somatostatin, in the treatment of metastatic breast cancer. Br J Cancer 1999; 79: 1413-1418.

O'Connel PG, Gerber LH, DiGiovanna JJ, Peck GL. Arthritis in patients with psoriasis treated with gamma interferon. J Rheumatol 1992; 19: 80-82.

Papp KA, Bissonette R, Goldwater R, Pehr K, Ouellet JP, Minier D, Gratton D, Lynde C, Lui H, Shapiro J, Carey W, Gulliver W, Shear N, Scannon PJ, Starko K, Garovoy MR. The treatment of moderate to severe psoriasis with hu 1124: a new monoclonal antibody. Br J Dermatol 1999; 141: 980.

Papachristou DN, Liu JL, Patel YC. Glucocorticoids regulate somatostatin peptide and steady state messenger ribonucleic acid levels in normal rat tissues and in a somatostatin-producing islet tumor cell line (1027B2). Endocrinol 1994; 134: 2259-2266.

Patel YC. General aspects of the biology and function of somatostatin. In: Weil C, Muller EE, Thorner MO, eds. Basic and Clinical Aspects of Neuroscience. Berlin: Springer-Verlag 1992: 1-16.

Patel YC, Srikant CB. Subtype selectivity of peptide analogs for all five cloned human somatostatin receptors (hsstr 1-5). Endocrinol 1994; 136: 2814-2817.

Patel YC. Molecular pharmacology of somatostatin receptor subtypes. J Endocrinol Invest 1997; 20: 348-367.

Patel YC. Somatostatin and its receptor family. Front Neuroendocrin 1999; 20: 157-198.

Payan DG, Hess CA, Goetzl EJ. Inhibition by somatostatin of the proliferation of T lymphocytes and molt-4 lymphoblasts. Cell Immunol 1984; 84: 433-438.

Payan DG. The role of neuropeptides in inflammation. In: Gallin JI, Goldstein IM, Snyderman R, eds. Inflammation: Basic principles and clinical correlates. 2nd edn. New York: Raven Press, 1992: 177-192.

Pehamberger H, Stingl LA, Pogantsch S, Steiner G, Wolff K, Stingl G. Epidermal cellinduced generation of cytotoxic T lymphocytes against alloantigens or TNP-modified syngeneic cells: requirement for Ia-positive Langerhans cells. J Invest Dermatol 1983; 81: 208-211.

Pert CB, Hill JM, Ruff MR, Berman RM, Robey WG, Arthur LO, Ruscetti FW, Farrar WL. Octapeptides deduced from the neuropeptide receptor-like pattern of antigen T4 in brain potently inhibit human immunodeficiency virus receptor binding and T-infectivity. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 1986; 83: 9254-9258.

Picker LJ. Control of lymphocyte homing. Curr Opin Immunol 1994; 6: 394-406.

Picker LJ, Butcher EC. Physiological and molecular mechanisms of lymphocyte homing. Annu Rev Immunol 1992; 10: 561-591.

Pincelli C, Fantini F, Romualdi P, Sevignani C, Lesa G, Benassi L, Giannetti A. Substance P is diminished and vasoactive intestinal peptide is augmented in psoriatic lesions and these peptides exert disparate effects on the proliferation of human cultured keratinocytes. J Invest Dermatol 1992; 98: 421-427.

Pincelli C. Fantini F, Gianetti A. Neuropeptides and skin inflammation. Dermatology 1993; 187: 153-158.

Placek W, Haftek M, Thivolet J. Sequence of changes in psoriatic epidermis: immunocompetent cell redistribution precedes altered expression of keratinocyte differentiation markers. Acta Derm Venereol 1988; 68: 369-377.

Poikolainen K, Reunala T, Karvonen J, Lauharanta J, Karkkainen P. Alcohol intake, a risk factor for psoriasis in young and middle aged men? BMJ 1990; 300: 780-783.

Raderer M, Hejna MH, Muller C, Kornek GV, Kurtaran A, Virgolini I, Fiebieger W, Hamilton G, Scheithauer W. Treatment of hepatocellular cancer with the long acting somatostatin analog lanreotide in vitro and in vivo. Int J Oncol 2000; 16: 1197-1201.

Ramsdale TE, Andrews PR, Nice EC. Verification of the interaction between peptide T and CD4 using surface plasmon resonance. FEBS Lett 1993; 333: 217-222

Raydchaudhuri SP, Farber EM. Neuropeptides and neurogenic inflammation. In: Roenigk HH, Maibach H, eds. Psoriasis. Third edition. New York: Marcel Dekker, Inc., 1998: 383-391.

Raydchaudhuri SP. Immunomodulatory effects of peptide T on Th1/Th2 cytokines. Int J Immunopharmacol 1999; 21: 609-615.

Raynor K, Reisine T. Analogs of somatostatin selectively label distinct subtypes of somatostatin receptors in rat brain. J Pharmacol Exp Ther 1989; 251:510-517.

Raynor K, Coy DC, Reisine T. Analogues of somatostatin bind selectively to brain somatostatin receptor subtypes. J Neurochem 1992; 59: 1241-1250.

Raynor K, O'Carrol AM, Kong H, Yasuda K, Mahan LC, Bell GI, Reisine T. Characterization of cloned somatostatin receptors SSTR4 and SSTR5. Mol Pharmacol 1993; 44: 385-392.

Reichlin S. Somatostatin. N Engl J Med 1983; 309: 1495-1501, 1556-1563.

Rens-Domiano S, Law SF, Yamada Y, Seino S, Bell GI, Reisine T. Pharmacological properties of two cloned somatostatin receptors. Mol Pharmacol 1992; 42: 28-34.

Reubi JC, Horisberger U, Kappeler A, Laissue JA. Localization of receptors for vasoactive intestinal peptide, somatostatin and substance P in distinct compartments of human lymphoid organs. Blood 1998; 92: 191-197.

Russell TJ, Schultes LM, Kuban DJ. Histocompatibility (HL-A) antigens associated with psoriasis. N Engl J Med 1972; 287: 738-740.

Smith AE, Kassab JY, Rowland Payne CME, Beer WE. Bimodality in age of onset of psoriasis in both patients and relatives. Dermatology 1993; 186: 181-186.

Stingl G, Tamaki K, Katz SI. Origin and function of epidermal Langerhans cells. Immunol Rev 1980; 53: 149-174.

Stingl G, Katz SI, Clement L, Green I, Shevach EM. Immunologic functions of Ia-bearing epidermal Langerhans cells. J Immunol 1978; 121: 2005-2013.

Stoof TJ, Mitra RS, Sarma V, Dixit VM, Nickoloff BJ. Keratinocyte activation following T-lymphocyte binding. J Invest Dermatol 1992; 98: 92-95.

Takeba Y, Suzuki N, Takeno M, Asai T, Tsuboi S, Hoshino Y, Sakane T. Modulation of synovial cell function by somatostatin in patients with rheumatoid arthritis. Arthr Rheum 1997; 40: 2128-2138.

Tallent M, Liapakis G, O'Carrol AM, Lolait SJ, Dichter M, Reisine T. Somatostatin receptor subtypes SSTR2 and SSTR5 couple negatively to an L-type Ca2+ current in the pituitary cell line AtT-20. Neuroscience 1996; 71: 1073-1081.

Talme T, Schultzberg M. Somatostatin immunoreactive cells and Merkel cells in psoriasis (letter). Acta Derm Venereol 1999; 79: 388-389.

Tiilikainen A, Lassus A, Karvonen J, Vartiainen P, Julin M. Psoriasis and HLA-Cw6. Br J Dermatol 1980; 192: 179-184.

Tomfohrde J, Silverman A, Barnes R, Fernandez-Vina MA, Young M, Lory D, Morris L, Wuepper KD, Stasny P, Menter A, et al. Gene for familial psoriasis susceptibility mapped to the distal end of human chromosome 17q. Science 1994; 264: 1141-1145.

Tramu G, Pillez A, Leonardelli J. An efficient method of antibody elution for the successive or simultaneous location of two antigens by immunocytochemistry. J Histochem Cytochem 1978; 26: 322-324.

Traupe H. The puzzling genetics of psoriasis. Clin Dermatol. 1995; 13: 99-103.

Trembath RC, Clough RL, Rosbotham JL, Jones AB, Camp RDR, Frodsham A, Browne J, Barber R, Terwilliger J, Lathrop GM, Barker JN. Identification of a major susceptibility locus on chromosome 6p and evidence for further disease loci revealed by a two stage genome-wide search in psoriasis. Hum Mol Genet 1997; 6: 813-820.

Trozak D. A histological grading system for psoriasis vulgaris. Psoriasis Research Institute, Palo Alto, CA, USA. Personal communication.

Tsutsumi A, Takano H, Ichikawa K, Kobayashi S, Koike T. Expression of somatostatin receptor subtype 2 mRNA in human lymphoid cells. Cell Immunol 1997; 181: 44-49.

Valdimarsson H, Baker BS, Jonsdottir I, Fry L. Psoriasis: a disease of abnormal keratinocyte proliferation induced by T lymphocytes. Immunol Today 1986; 7: 257-259.

Valdimarsson H, Baker BS, Jonsdottir I, Powles A, Fry L. Psoriasis: a T-cell-mediated autoimmune disease induced by streptococcal superantigens? Immunol Today 1996; 17: 46-47.

van den Oord JJ, de Wolf-Peeters C. Epithelium-lining macrophages in psoriasis. Br J Dermatol 1994; 130: 589-594.

Watkins WB, Yen SS. Somatostatin in cytotrophoblast of the immature human placenta: Localization by immunoperoxidase cytochemistry. J Clin Endocrinol Metab 1980; 50: 969-971.

Weber G, Klughart G, Neidhardt M. Psoriasis and human growth hormone: Aetiology and therapy. Arch Derm Res 1981; 270: 361-365.

Weber G, Klughart G, Neidhardt M, Galle K, Frey H, Geiger A. Treatment of psoriasis with somatostatin. Arch Dermatol Res 1982; 272: 31-36.

Venier A, De Simone C, Forni L, Ghirlanda G, Uccioli L, Serri F, Frati L. Treatment of severe psoriasis with somatostatin: four years of experience. Arch Dermatol Res 1988; 280: S51-S54.

Wallengren J, Ekman R, Sundler F. Occurrence and distribution of neuropeptides in human skin. Acta Derm Venereol 1987; 67: 185-192.

Wetterberg L, Alexius B, Sääf V, Sönnerborg A, Britton S, Pert C. Peptide T in treatment of AIDS. Lancet 1987; 1 (8525): 159.

Witzig TE, Letendre L, Gerstner J, Schroeder G, Mailliard JA, Colon-Otero G, Marschke RF, Windschitl HE. Evaluation of a somatostatin analog in the treatment of lymphoproliferative disorders: results of a phase II North Central Cancer Treatment Group trial. J Clin Oncol 1995; 13: 2012-2015.

Wollina U, Mahrle G. Epidermal Merkel cells in psoriatic lesions: immunohistochemical investigations on neuroendocrine antigen expression. J Dermatol Sci 1992; 3: 145-150.

Wollina U. Somatostatin and psoriasis (letter). Acta Derm Venereol 1998; 78: 226.

Yasuda K, Rens-Domiano S, Breder CD, Law SF, Saper CB, Reisine T, Bell GI. Cloning of a novel somatostatin receptor SSTR3, coupled to adenylcyclase. J Biol Chem 1992; 267: 20422-20428.